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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DRIEFR

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 10008 Willow House
Cricket Square

Grand Cayman

KY1-1001

Cayman lIslands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Units 2201-2202, 22/F

Alliance Building

133 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE OF THE GROUP

Rua de Pequim No. 202A-246
Macau Finance Centre
16 Andar A-D, Macau

LEGAL ADVISER
Michael Li & Co.

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited

P.O. Box 10008 Willow House

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman

KY1-1001

Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Banco Tai Fung, S.A.R.L., Macau

The Bank of East Asia, Ltd, Macau

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Macau
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

STOCK CODE
0640

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk

AL Y SR

P.O. Box 10008 Willow House
Cricket Square

Grand Cayman

KY1-1001

Cayman lIslands

EBEFTELSEMEL
s

+ # i& F1335%
BIERE
221£2201-2202F

&= B A

BP0 =

1t R #1202A-2465%
PSR OBEA-DE

e
SE AR BB
TERMNBFELARK

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
P.O. Box 10008 Willow House

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman

KY1-1001

Cayman lIslands

BERNBFELDE

BEEHFELBERAR
a5

2/ KB E1835
Ao

2218

EERERIRTT
RERITERAE - RP
RERITARAF @ AP

BB LSELRITARDF R
TEHIBT  BE
ERRIT(BR)BRAT
RERTT (BB ERAF

At R
0640

NGIEER
www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk

Annual Report 2018 | =& —/\F F

003



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETR®E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) the 2017/2018 annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 30 September
2018.

RESULTS

The overall revenue of the Group increased by approximately 22.9% from
approximately HK$539,557,000 during the year ended 30 September
2017 to approximately HK$663,036,000 during the year ended
30 September 2018. The net profit of the Group for the year ended
30 September 2018 amounted to approximately HK$40,311,000 as
contrast to the net loss of the Group for the year ended 30 September
2017 of approximately HK$20,279,000. Details of the Group’s results
and prospects will be discussed under the section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK2.6 cents per share to the Shareholders (subject to approval by
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting) for the year
ended 30 September 2018 (2017: HK2.1 cents).

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere gratitude to all
patrons, suppliers, business partners and the Shareholders for their
support and patience during the past year. May | also salute our
managers at all levels and dedicated staff for their invaluable contributions
and diligent efforts during the year.

leong Un
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 December 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFN WK DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The overall revenue of the Group increased by approximately 22.9% from
approximately HK$539,557,000 during the year ended 30 September
2017 to approximately HK$663,036,000 during the year ended
30 September 2018.

The overall increase was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue
in the Socialist Republic of Vietham (the “Vietham”) market after the
commencement of operation of our Vietnam plant in mid-2017.

Gross profit/Gross profit margin

The overall gross profit margin decreased from approximately 34.1%
during the year ended 30 September 2017 to approximately 29.2%
during the year ended 30 September 2018. The decrease in our
gross profit margin was mainly due to the continuous increase in the
petrochemical material costs during the year ended 30 September 2018.

Selling and distribution costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs increased by approximately
7.8% from approximately HK$56,149,000 during the year ended
30 September 2017 to approximately HK$60,520,000 during the year
ended 30 September 2018.

The increase was due to the increase in revenue generated in the Viethnam
market during the year ended 30 September 2018.

Administrative expenses

Excluding the one-off allowances made for trade and other receivables
of approximately HK$5,840,000 (2017: Nil) during the year ended
30 September 2018, the Group’s administrative expenses remained
relatively stable.

Share of profits/(losses) of associates

The Group’s share of losses of associates of approximately
HK$17,075,000 during the year ended 30 September 2017 mainly
represented the share of loss of one of the associates of the Group,
namely Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Blue Sky Group”). As full impairment was made for the
investment in the Blue Sky Group during the year ended 30 September
2017, there was no further share of losses of the associate during the
year ended 30 September 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

Impairment loss of investment in an associate

The Group’s impairment loss of investment in an associate of
approximately HK$38,393,000 during the year ended 30 September
2017 represented the full impairment made for the investment in the Blue
Sky Group. As such, there was no further impairment loss of investment
in the associate during the year ended 30 September 2018.

Net profit/(loss) for the year

As a result of the abovementioned, during the year ended 30 September
2018, the Group reported a net profit of approximately HK$40,311,000
(year ended 30 September 2017: net loss of approximately
HK$20,279,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Business

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
adhesives, primers, hardeners and vulcanized shoes adhesive related
products used by the footwear manufacturers; and acting as the sales
agent for adhesives used in the production of electronic products.

Adhesives are used for bonding all components of footwear including
outsoles, insoles, and uppers, while vulcanized shoes adhesives are used
for bonding all components of vulcanized shoes. Primers are used in the
pretreatment of footwear components, including outsoles, insoles, and
uppers, prior to the application of adhesives. Hardeners, being a curing
agent, are used by mixing with adhesives to control or speed up the
curing action of adhesives. Electronic adhesive related products are key
materials used in bonding components of electronic products.

The revenue is mainly generated from the sales of vulcanized shoes
adhesive related products and other shoe adhesives. The Directors
expected that there will not be any material changes in such revenue
pattern in 2019.

As at 30 September 2018, the Group had 3 manufacturing plants in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Vietnam and Republic
of Indonesia (the “Indonesia”). The Group is planning to expand its
manufacturing facilities in Vietnam in order to satisfy the market demand.

Cost control

The Group will continue to carefully review and extensively investigate
into the current situation in relation to costs and resources deployment.
If necessary, the Group will also streamline its business and operational
flow in a proactive manner for the purposes of effectively controlling and
lowering the operating costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNRR DN

Research and development

The Group has continuously dedicated to develop premium and quality
products on an environmental friendly basis to meet the market needs,
and closely observe the development trend in the future to research and
develop products continuously in order to meet the future development
needs in the industry. In addition to the technology cooperation between
the Group and the No-Tape Japan as well as having its own research and
development team, the Group also entered into technology cooperation
agreements with several sophisticated technology experts in the industry
(including those from countries and regions such as Japan, Taiwan and
Hong Kong). Hopefully, such measures will enhance the research and
development capabilities of the Group so as to maintain the leading
position of its technologies in the industry.

Prospects

Due to the continual growth in global demand for footwear, more stringent
requirement from the manufacturers for the quality of adhesives which
will gradually eliminate industry players with less competitiveness, rapid
increase in the demand for the use of environmental friendly water-
based adhesive products by footwear brands and manufacturers, and
ongoing diversion of the footwear manufacturing industry to countries or
regions with lower costs, the effect of the previous regional deployments
of the Group is becoming prominent under the swift changes in the
market. Moreover, the Group has been establishing a good reputation
for our premium and quality products and maintaining good strategic
relationships with our customers for a number of years. As such, the
Board expects that the growth of the Group’s sales will be at a steady
pace in 2019. The Group will devote necessary resources to further
increase its market share if appropriate.

It is generally believed that the international outlook will remain positive
as economic fundamentals remain in good shape and it is expected that
there will be a mild growth in the global economy. However, the ongoing
trade war between the United States and the PRC, the economic troubles
in emerging markets, the anticipated increase in the interest rate and the
oil price volatility are expected to be the main risks inherent to the global
economy in 2019. These uncertainties will also undoubtedly increase the
overall operational risks of the market players in 2019.

Leveraging on the Group’s solid experience accumulated over the years,
its premium and quality products recognised by the market and its
competence in research and development capabilities, the Group will
continue to commit to its core business. The Group will also consider
to invest and develop its OEM business in a proactive manner in order
to broaden its revenue base.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRR DN

Looking ahead, the Board remains optimistic about the prospects of
our core business in the long term. However, in view of a series of
uncertainties in the current global economy, the Group will follow a more
cautious approach to ensure continuous, rapid and effective business
and operation development in the coming year by focusing on the
improvement of its operational efficiency and core competitiveness. The
Group will also closely and carefully monitor the latest development in the
global economy and our core business and adjust its business strategies
from time to time if required.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group increased from
approximately HK$27,164,000 as at 30 September 2017 to approximately
HK$36,654,000 as at 30 September 2018. As at 30 September 2018,
these interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group granted under
the relevant banking facilities were secured by (i) the Group’s restricted
bank deposits of approximately HK$12,980,000 (30 September 2017:
approximately HK$17,430,000); (i) the Group’s certain property, plant
and equipment with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,678,000
(30 September 2017: approximately HK$3,786,000); (i) the Group’s
investment properties with carrying amount of approximately
HK$69,000,000 (30 September 2017: approximately HK$70,700,000);
and (iv) corporate guarantee executed by the Company.

Borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and interests on
borrowings were charged at floating rates. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy while the Group pays vigilant
attention to and monitors interest rate risks continuously and cautiously.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group has normally funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through net cash generated from operating activities.

As at 30 September 2018, the Group had restricted bank deposits
of approximately HK$12,980,000 (30 September 2017: approximately
HK$17,430,000). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 30 September
2018 (defined as the total borrowings divided by total equity) was
approximately 9.4% (30 September 2017: approximately 6.9%). As at
30 September 2018, the current ratio of the Group was approximately
2.2 (30 September 2017: approximately 2.8).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its
business transactions are denominated in United States dollars; and
assets and liabilities are principally derived from our overseas operations
and mainly denominated in Renminbi, New Taiwan Dollars, Vietham Dong,
Indonesia Rupiah and United States dollars. The Group expects that
the Hong Kong dollars will continue to be pegged to the United States
dollars. As such, the Group expects that the Hong Kong Dollars will not
have material fluctuation against foreign currencies which might materially
affect the Group’s operations. During the year ended 30 September
2018, the Group did not employ any financial instruments for hedging
purpose. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider adopting hedging policy should the need arise.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals.

There was no formal plan authorised by the Board for any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals as at 30 September 2018
and up to the date of this annual report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 September 2018, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$6,842,000 (30 September 2017: approximately
HK$9,014,000) in respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2018, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no other material events occurring after the reporting
period and up to the date of this annual report.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 September 2018, the Group employed a total of 365
(30 September 2017: 375) employees. It is the policy of the Group to
provide a regular review on its employees’ pay levels, performance
bonus system and other fringe benefits (including social insurance
coverage and sponsored ftraining) to ensure that the remuneration
policy is competitive within the relevant industry. During the year ended
30 September 2018, the staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$67,399,000 (year ended 30 September
2017: approximately HK$69,742,000). In order to provide incentive or
reward to eligible persons for their contributions to the Group and enable
the Group to recruit and retain human resources that are valuable to the
Group, the Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2010
(the “2010 Share Option Scheme”), under which it may grant options
to eligible persons, including but not limited to the employees, Directors
and consultants of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRR DN

The remuneration policy for the Directors is based on their experience,
level of responsibility, length of service and general market conditions.
Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments are linked to the
financial results of the Group and the individual performance of the
Directors.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS OF THE GROUP

Blue Sky Group

As at 30 September 2018, the Group owned 40% equity interests in
Blue Sky Group which was principally engaged in the () provision of
application and installation of energy-efficiency system and photovoltaic
system for commercial and industrial buildings and manufacturing
premises; and (i) purchases and sales of above captioned projects and
renewable energy related projects.

During the year ended 30 September 2017, the Blue Sky Group made
an investment (the “Acquisition”) to acquire an effective interest of 57%
shareholding in a biochemical production, namely & 78 £} 88 8 R & R
ET27], a company which engages in bioenergy research and ethanol
production in the PRC (the “PRC operation”). The Directors noted that
the Blue Sky Group did not possess any energy-efficiency contract on
hand or engage in relevant projects during the year ended 30 September
2017 other than the investment in the PRC operation. Further to the
enquiry by the management of the Company to the Blue Sky Group in
December 2017, the management of the Company was informed that the
ethanol production project would be further postponed and there was
no further detailed and concrete production schedule about the PRC
operation provided by the Blue Sky Group.

In light of the above, the Directors considered that indicators of
Impairment (as defined below) existed as at 30 September 2017 in
respect of the Company’s investment in associate, the Blue Sky Group,
and engaged an independent valuer to determine the recoverable amount
of investment as required by HKAS 28.42. The recoverable amount
was based on the fair value less costs of disposal of the investment in
associate in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets. Based on
the assessment by the independent valuer, the Blue Sky Group had no
commercial value as at 30 September 2017.

As such, during the year ended 30 September 2017, the Group’s share
of the loss and impairment loss of its investment in the Blue Sky Group
were approximately HK$17.0 million and HK$38.4 million (“lmpairment”)
respectively. The Company considered that the Impairment was a non-
cash flow item and would not affect the liquidity of the Group.

Please refer to the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 September 2017 for
details of the Impairment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Company met with the
Blue Sky Group to update the status of the Blue Sky Group. However,
there was still no significant progress or improvement in its business
of the Blue Sky Group. Neither any solid production plan in the PRC
operation nor most of the information about the Acquisition requested by
the Company could be provided by the Blue Sky Group up to the date
of this annual report. Based on the update assessment and using the
same valuation method by the same independent valuer, the commercial
value of the Blue Sky Group as at 30 September 2018 remained nil. The
Directors are still assessing the status of the Blue Sky Group cautiously
and prudently. After consulting with external professional advisers and
taking into account the possible cost and benefit at the pre-litigation
stage, the Directors considered that it is pre-mature to initiate any
claims relating to the Blue Sky Group and consider the treatment of
the investment in the Blue Sky Group at this moment. As such, as at
30 September 2018, the Group’s interests in the Blue Sky Group were
still fully impaired for the sake of prudence.

The Group will monitor the latest status of the Blue Sky Group in
order to resolve the issue in due course. The Directors remain actively
seeking for resolutions to remedy the loss or to divest the investment,
and is prepared to initiate necessary action (including legal action) when
considered appropriate.

Warrant Parking Management Limited

The Group has held 40% equity interest in Warrant Parking Management
Limited (the “Warrant Parking”) since 2017. The principal activity of the
Warrant Parking is mainly engaged in provision of car park management
for both public and private sectors in Macau. The Board expects that
the Warrant Parking will be able to generate positive contribution to the
Group in the long run.

Hunan Changsha cooperation

On 12 October 2015, the Group entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding with #k & R MER TRMFEHLE
R /A7) (transliterated as Zhuzhou National Engineering Research Centre
of Converters Co., Ltd.) (the “ZNERCC”) and entered into a non-legally
blndlng cooperation agreement with ZNERCC and j#m M A E Rl A
R/~ 7] (transliterated as Hunan Changsha Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd.")
in respect of the possible cooperation in photovoltaics system project(s).
Details thereof were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
12 October 2015. The construction of the grid-connected photovoltaic
power system was completed in 2016 and the application of connection
to the utility grid was completed in 2017. Initial operation was noted
during the year ended 30 September 2018. The Group will closely
monitor and review the status of the possible cooperation and will
consider if any further or binding cooperation shall be pursued. The
Group will make further announcement(s) in relation thereto if and when
appropriate.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group had no
other significant investments as at 30 September 2018.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in this report, where indicated,
are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as the official
English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

To create a long term value for the interests of the Shareholders is
the Board’s main objective. As such, the Board is highly committed
to achieving a high standard of corporate governance and striving to
maintain the management practices in a transparent and responsible
way. The Board reviews and improves the Group’s corporate governance
practices and business ethics on an ongoing basis.

During the year ended 30 September 2018 and up to the date of this
report, the Company complied with all the code provisions, where
applicable, as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) except for the deviations mentioned in the sections
of “Meetings and Attendance” and “Chairman and Chief Executive”.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All the Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
30 September 2018.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group, and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance.
The Board has delegated to the senior management the authority and
responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group.
Besides, the Board has established Board committees and has delegated
to these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate governance
duties of the Group and will assign relevant functions to other board
committees, namely the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
(collectively, the “Board Committees”) as and when appropriate.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Details of the composition of the Board and biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 2 to 3 of this annual report in the section of
“Corporate Information” and on pages 37 to 40 of this annual report in
the section of “Profile of Directors and Senior Management”, respectively.

The Board possesses the skills, experience and expertise either in the
same industry or relevant to the management of the business of the
Group which brings a good balance of relevant skills and experience
to the Company. The independent non-executive Directors also provide
their independent professional judgments on the assessment of the
development, performance and risk management of the Group.

Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various meetings
during the year ended 30 September 2018, as well as the number of
such meetings held, are set out below:

X

ExglmtaKEAK BROANTES
R=2WIFNTEST EZTSHNNESZE
BEHFBORNENAFRE2EIAIAAEHR ] —
IR ANFRFEITEA0E[EEZNSRERERE

—ff e

EE AR TERBEEEAKEXRBKIEH
2B BBAERME  RARBERIEH
REERERZREFE - BIYIFNTEETN
AEAEE2#R  RENMEREERERS
2B BEAE -

ERRHERER

EF-\FAA=ZTALFE  HEES
RERTREZZLEBEAREBERHEZHRT
KRBT

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BIT2EEBE

Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee = Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EXg BKZEET RAEZEHY EMEEE KREF
i i ik ik AE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. leong Un @ B LD 6/6 N/AT 38 A N/AT 38 A N/AT 38 A 11
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERAEE 46 NATER  NATERS N/AZR 52 B 11
Mr. Ip Ka Lun ExEfksE 6/6  NATEHMA 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham Prince %t £ 3/6 N/A 3 A N/A 3 A N/AZ i A 0/1
Mr. Tong Yiu On (resignation with effect BERZEE(BEE-_T—/\F
from 12 May 2018) AA+T-HEER 2/2 N/A 3 A N/A 3 A N/A 3 A 01
Independent non-executive Directors BIEHTES
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George @ W oK 4 S £ @ 3/6 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Simon Luk © R KL 3/6 2/2 1/1 1/1 11
Mr. Tong Hing Wah GREELEY 3/6 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
1. Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. 1. EESFFRARATHRER -
2. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 2. FTMEEGER -
3. Chairman of the Nomination Committee. 3. RELZEGER -
4, Chairman of the Audit Committee. 4. BEREEREF -
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In respect of code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman of the
Board should at least annually hold meetings with the non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without the
presence of the executive Directors.

As Mr. leong Un, the chairman of the Board, is also an executive Director,
it is not practicable for the Company to comply with this code provision.
The independent non-executive Directors could communicate with the
chairman of the Board directly at any time through other means (such
as telephone or email) to give their opinions and share their views on
the Company’s affairs. It is therefore considered that there are ample
opportunities for the chairman of the Board to communicate with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the
executive Directors.

Relationship

None of the members of the Board has any relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships) between
each other.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 30 September 2018.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received written confirmation from each of the independent non-executive
Directors confirming his independence from the Company, and considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors entered into a service
contract with the Company for a fixed term of two years commencing
from 1 January 2017. On 21 December 2018, each of the independent
non-executive Directors entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a fixed term of two years commencing from 1 January
2019. Notwithstanding the specific term of appointments, the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide that every Director,
including all the independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders.

Directors’ Induction and Development

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Company arranged
a seminar provided by an independent third party for our Directors
as continuing professional trainings for corporate governance and
compliance purposes. Some Directors also participated in other seminars
according to their own preferences.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In respect of code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual for a balance of power and authority. Mr. leong
Un is the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company. He is the founder of the Group and the substantial Shareholder
and has considerable experience in the adhesive related industry.
The Board considers that this situation will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company because the balance of power and authority is governed by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals with demonstrated integrity. Furthermore, decisions
of the Board are made by way of majority votes. The Board believes
that this structure is conducive to a more precise and more promptly
response to the fast changing business environment and a more efficient
management and implementation of business process. The Board also
considers that vesting two roles in the same person provides the Group
with strong and consistent leadership in the development and execution
of the Group’s business strategies and is beneficial to the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established Board Committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs and help it in the execution of its
responsibilities. Specific written terms of reference of these committees
clearly outline each committee’s authority and duty.

Each committee is required to report back on its decisions or
recommendations to the Board on a timely basis, unless there are any
legal or regulatory restrictions imposed on it.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining the
relationship with the Company’s auditor; (b) reviewing the Company’s
financial information; (c) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems; and (d) assessing
the Group’s corporate governance functions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee is made
up of three independent non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tong Hing
Wah (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Wing Yau George and
Mr. Simon Luk. Mr. Tong Hing Wah (chairman of the Audit Committee)
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required.

The Audit Committee held two committee meetings during the year
ended 30 September 2018.
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Summary of work of Audit Committee during the year
ended 30 September 2018

The Audit Committee held two committee meetings with the auditor, RSM
Hong Kong, to (a) discuss and review the Group’s results for the year
ended 30 September 2017 and recommended the same to the Board
for approval; and (b) discuss and review the Group’s results for the six
months ended 31 March 2018 and recommended the same to the Board
for approval.

Other than the above, the Audit Committee also reviewed the terms of
the Group’s continuing connected transactions that are fully exempted
from independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules,
and reviewed and discussed the Group’s risk management and internal
control function and its effectiveness, the existing terms of reference
of the Audit Committee and the Group’s overall corporate governance
functions.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a) reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (b) reviewing the Company’s Board diversity policy
and the progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing the
said policy; (c) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (d) assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
any proposed independent non-executive Directors; and (g) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of the Directors, and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the Company. The
full version of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website
at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

The Nomination Committee is made up of four members including Mr.
Simon Luk (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Chan Wing Yau
George, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun.

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting during the year
ended 30 September 2018.
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Summary of work of Nomination Committee during the year
ended 30 September 2018

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting to review
and consider the composition of the Board, the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and the existing terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and the
structure for all the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (c) determining, making
recommendations to the Board, considering and approving the
remuneration package of all the Directors and senior management of the
Group and the compensation arrangements relating to loss or termination
of office and dismissal or removal of the Directors; (d) deciding the
remunerations of the Directors with independence; (e) advising the
Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service contracts
of Directors that require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of
the Listing Rules; (f) consulting the chairman of the Board and/or the
chief executive officer of the Company about their proposals relating to
the remuneration of other executive Directors; and (g) ensuring proper
disclosure of the Director’'s remuneration in the annual report of the
Company in accordance with the accounting principles and the Listing
Rules. The full version of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of four members including Mr.
Chan Wing Yau George (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr.
Simon Luk, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting during the
year ended 30 September 2018.
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Summary of work of Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 30 September 2018

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting to review
and approve the existing remuneration package and structure of all the
Directors and senior management independently and the existing terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group and the Directors’
emoluments are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Senior management’s remuneration
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration paid
to the members of the senior management by band during the year
ended 30 September 2018 is set out below:

¥ EM S 3 (78 T)

Remuneration bands (HK$)

BE-F-\FhA=1+HLFEHFMZ
BEEZ2IFHE

FNZEE@BREIT -REEEEH  BUR
it E2BEZRSREEBZEBHMWTE
RRBUARGTHNEESRBEZHMERE -

AEERURSFMALREETHESFBIR
REMBRERMEIZRI4 -

= AR E T S
REBEEEREATRZTREXFEBILG - BE
“E-)\FAA=THLFERSRAEEEXE
Sz FMEEEHSI T

Number of person(s)

AH

Nil to 1,000,000 Z %£1,000,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board, with the assistance of other board committees, is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions, and it
accordingly reviews and monitors the training and continuing professional
development of Directors and the senior management, and ensures its
policies and practices in compliance with relevant laws and regulatory
requirements. During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the auditor, RSM Hong Kong,
received HK$1,150,000 for provision of audit service and approximately
HK$550,000 for non-audit services.

There were no disagreements between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of the auditor, RSM Hong Kong,
during the year ended 30 September 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All the Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

The statement of the auditor, RSM Hong Kong, about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 52 to 57 of this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures include
a management structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and limits of authority. It primarily aims to provide a reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance that assets are properly safeguarded against
misappropriations, transactions are executed in accordance with the
management’s authorisation, and accounting records are reliable and
proper for preparing financial information and are not materially misstated.
The procedure is designed to identify, evaluate and manage risks
effectively rather than to eliminate all risks of failure.

The Board, with the assistance of other board committees, is responsible
for maintaining adequate procedures of risk management and internal
control for the Group and the Board had conducted an annual review of
its effectiveness during the year ended 30 September 2018. Same as last
year’s practice, the Company engaged an external independent internal
control adviser to conduct a review on the internal control procedures
of the Group. The review covered material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
during the year ended 30 September 2018. The findings have been
addressed. No significant areas of improvement which are required to
be brought to the attention of the Board have been revealed.

As such, the Board is satisfied that the Group’s internal control
procedures including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions as appropriate to the Group have been put
in place and considers that the Group’s internal control procedures and
risk management functions are both effective and adequate.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

o is aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571) (the “SFQ”) and the Listing Rules and is
required, as soon as reasonably practicable after any inside
information has come to its knowledge, to disclose the information
to the public;

o has established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

Senior management is identified and authorised to act as the Company’s
spokespersons and respond to enquiries in allocated areas of issues.

Training on inside information disclosure is provided to the Board to
enhance corporate governance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Shum Hoi Luen (the
“Company Secretary”), who is also the financial controller of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Company. During the year ended
30 September 2018, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. His biography is set out on page 40 of this annual report
in the section of “Profile of Directors and Senior Management”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies,
The Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meeting. The Chairman of the Board will make
himself available at the annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meeting to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, there were no changes in
the Company’s constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

1.

The way in which shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) can convene an extraordinary general
meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and lodged to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong with the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F, Alliance Building,
133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the requirements under the Articles to all the
registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid,
the members concerned will be advised of this outcome, and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
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The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the Shareholders
concerned at an EGM varies, according to the nature of the
proposal, as follows:

° at least 14 days’ notice (the notice period must include
10 business days) in writing if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company in an EGM.

° at least 21 days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in an EGM.

The procedures Shareholders can use to propose a
person for election as a Director

No person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected including that person’s biographical details, shall have
been lodged to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong with the address at Units 2201-
2202, 22/F, Alliance Building, 133 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong, at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. The
lodgement of notice should also be in compliance with the other
requirements of the Listing Rules.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Any Shareholder(s) who wish to raise his/their enquiries concerning
the Company to the Board may deliver his/their written enquiry(ies)
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
with the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F, Alliance Building, 133
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or at any address notified
by the Company from time to time and for the attention of the
chairman of the Board and the Company Secretary. Upon receipt
of the enquiries, the Company would reply as soon as possible.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group contributes to sustainable development by delivering
environmental, social and economic benefits to all stakeholders in
a balanced way. This year, the Group is pleased to present our
environmental, social and governance report for the year ended
30 September 2018 for the purpose of demonstrating our efforts on
sustainable developments to our stakeholders.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules and is divided into two parts, namely environmental
and social.

A.  ENVIRONMENTAL

Environmental Management Policy

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering
our premium and quality products in a manner with minimal impact
to the environment resulting from our business activities.

For the environmental protection and secure usage of chemical
products, we are committed to:

° Establishing a responsible chemical sales and management
system, and making continuous effort to improve public
health, community safety and environmental protection;

° Keeping up-to-date with the latest developments in
environmental protection and occupational hygiene and safety

issues;

° Establishing stringent safety guidelines for handling
dangerous chemicals;

° Providing continuous occupational safety and environmental
protection education and training to employees and

customers;

° Dedicating to the research and development of products that
are both ecologically sound and occupationally safe; and

° Promoting the use of environmental-friendly products actively.
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wE

The Group’s environmental management system was accredited

with 1ISO 14001:2015.

AEENREEE
20157 &

BE X JEMEKXISO 14001:

<)

EMISSIONS All) BERLY)
Emission BEn
During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Group’s types of HEZZT-)/\FALA=ZTHLFE K&

emissions and respective emissions data are showed as below:

BB E R MBI AN N R FTR

Emission Data

(approximately) Unit
Types of Emissions Pz A HEREUR (59) BfI
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) FE=Rl ) 120,183 kg T
Sulfur Oxides (SOy) ety 593 kg T2
Particulate Matter (PM) BEY 99 kg T2
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (scope one) are resulting from BEEAZEREHNELEEEHERNL
diesel oil and gasoline used by vehicles. Indirect greenhouse i K A (3 Eﬁ ) MEEEREHEME

gas emissions (scope two) are mainly resulting from electricity
consumed in workplace of the Group. Due to the nature of our
Group, the greenhouse gas emissions of the Group were mainly
generated from scope two.

ERENAEELETROE ERE(E

lE—)o

ENAKENETELD  A58H

VAERBEREIZRENEE -

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Group’s HEZZ—)\FALA=THLFE T &
greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity are showed as ERERBANENTEREERTEX:
below:

Emission Data

(approximately) Unit
Scopes of Greenhouse Gas BERE EE HEhi BUR (49) B
Direct Greenhouse Gas Emissions BEEAZERBIK 837 tCOe BB A LIKEE
Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions MR ERBIEN 2,245 tCOe BE— A LiKEE
Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Total =R B R B 3,082 tCOe W — & LiRE 2
Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Intensity /&= REEHWZE 0.15 tCOQe/ton of adhesives produced

—EREE B EEE

The Group proactively makes its great efforts to reduce greenhouse

$%.F$T@(7]EALL HERPHEIE

gas emissions by improving our manufacturing system. EABMRBLORBEMHEREPAEED
/m::ﬁg'lﬁtbﬁ
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The Group sets up waste gas treatment facilities and equipment to AEBRTEREERERZE  UE
treat the waste gas generated during our manufacturing process. BREBERELENER -

The Group plans to gradually phase out the diesel forklifts by AEBFEUATHXNEZR S HKLEHX
electric one. B o
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Whenever possible, the Group has endeavored the best effort in EAREMBRAT  AEBKENERML
greening process in the areas of our manufacturing plants. EETHEAEITEL -

Waste Management BREMER
Due to the nature of the Group, various hazardous wastes and non- ERNARBMNERMELE  REMEERBE
hazardous wastes are generated during our manufacturing process. PEELASREREEYRERRESRE
During the year ended 30 September 2018, the quantity of these Yo BHEZET-N\FLA=ZTHLEFE -
wastes was as follows: ZEBEEMBHERTR:
Quantity

(approximately) Unit
Waste REE W) HE (%) BAhL
Hazardous &k 198 Tons [i#
Non-hazardous e EAl 48 Tons M
Hazardous wastes are strictly segregated from non-hazardous 15 B B 22 W) B JE 5 B JBE 2 W BR A% 0 B A
wastes for proper collection and treatment purpose. Hazardous HEZERERRKRIE - BREZY WA
wastes have been clearly identified and stored in a designated and WAE - WHERRNIEERRERRERD - B2
segregated area. Licensed waste collector has been engaged for EREEEMRENEERREZEY -

disposal of hazardous wastes.
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The Group does not involve in any material discharge of industrial
sewage. Domestic wastewater will be discharged into the municipal
pipe network after being processed.

General Compliances

In summary, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was
no material non-compliance with the applicable local rules and
regulations relating to air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions,
water and land discharges, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes in all material aspects.

USE OF RESOURCES

Resources

The main resources used by the Group in the manufacturing
process are electricity, fuel and water. In order to be an
environmentally responsible corporation, the Group strive to
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of resources consumption
in the manufacturing process for minimisation of wastage and
avoidance of excessive usage of precious resources.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we believe that there is no material
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Al
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During the year ended 30 September 2018, the energy

BHE-T )\Eﬂﬂ THIEFE K&

consumption by type in total of the Group are showed as below: EizEHI M REBERBRET
Data

(approximately) Unit
Direct/Indirect Energy by Type B/ BEERZES & (49) B
Diesel B 266,503 litre A Ft
Gasoline it 45,580 litre & Ft
Electricity ) 2,860,038 KWh +
Water 7K 57,591 me 37 J5 oK

The Group is conscious of environmental protection. Further details
of which are disclosed in the sections “Environmental Management
Policy” above and “The Environment and Natural Resources”
below.

Use of Packaging Material

The Group mainly uses metal and plastic containers and cartoon
boxes as packaging material for our adhesive products. During
the year ended 30 September 2018, the Group purchased
approximately 1,186 tonnes of packaging material for sales of
adhesive products. If possible, we would aim to increase the
effectiveness of packaging material through continuous examination
of using stronger and lighter packaging material from the market.

Al THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

028

Environment protection is the responsibility of every staff in the
Group. The Group is committed to sustainable development and
delivering our premium and quality products in a manner with
minimal impact to the environment resulting from our business
activities.

Apart from those details disclosed in the sections “Environmental
Management Policy”, “Emissions” and “Use of Resources” above,
the Group also continuously implements “green” concept with the
following measures:

o Office Power Saving: Policy to turn off lights when not in use,
air-conditioning temperature control, printer and computer
hibernation management, shut down of lights and computers
during lunch break, etc.

o Paper Saving: Implement paperless office, use email and
online system for document review and communication where
possible, reduce the frequency of printing and/or copying,
and reduce the use of office paper.

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

AEBIFERR -EE—FSHBERE
NIEREEEBBRRINTXIRERRAE
RIZ I -

BEMHEER
$%lixﬁ%i%&ﬁﬂ*“M&%
HERBRMAMABERNBEMK - &
E:E—AEHHE+Eﬁ¢§'$%E
BB R A o 3H IR B 401,186 B K
£t e AR - RIS EREMRMIGLER
BN FEENEREMHTEETRA - R
TrERM KA -

All)BIE R K RER

BRERESAKEE—REIMNEEZ - K
SEZINAKEERRERSHRE

EERORE  SHRANEBESHRER
P& BCEY &2 B 0R £ (K -

B EXTRBERBER | HH I RTE
RERIZEHEEZFBI  NEREIE
BUATHEBETEHERIGEER:

e MAEHE FEMTHEEER -
CATEIHERE ‘“ﬁiﬁE%
CFREEBEERAKSE

. AR - HEfTEA LD - FATRE
FRAETEHRG RS w;ﬂﬁdét
EHEERE  RLHEE,SFH
AR RO MAERLK -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HERERKRE

° Reduce the Use of Bottled Water: Provide drinking water
supply equipment at all production bases for the use by
factory employees, meetings and visitors. Employees are
encouraged to bring along their own reusable cups to reduce
the use of bottles.

k ll%iﬂ{

E.} E-?
SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Practices
EMPLOYMENT

The Group considers our employees as the most valuable wealth
and resources and believes that its employees are propellent of
corporate growth. Therefore, the Group is committed to providing
an equal opportunity, a harmonious and diversified working
environment to our employees in order to attract and retain
suitable talents in the competitive labour market for maintaining its
competitiveness in the industry.

Our employment system is properly documented, covering
resources planning, performance evaluation, training, compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

To ensure equal opportunities, employees must declare any
relatives working in the Group during the job application process.

The Group does not tolerate discrimination. Employees should
not be treated unequally on their personal characteristics,
including age, gender, religious belief, nationality and pregnancy.
Opportunities for promotion, training, resources, and recruitment
should be provided on a fair basis.
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In addition, the Group places a high value on creation of a
diversified corporate culture by making active efforts to recruit
employees with different background to enhance our Group

developing into a big family with diversification.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material
non-compliance or breach of relevant laws and regulations in

employment.

As at 30 September 2018, the Group had 365 employees. Below is
an overview of the composition of our employees by geographical

location and function.

By geographical location
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The Group has established objective performance indicators for
employees’ annual performance evaluation. Supervisor discusses
the performance with employee in facilitating an effective two-way
communication. Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers
rewards to our employees who perform outstandingly so as to
encourage their continuous improvement and achieve the target of
mutual growth of employee and the Group.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material
non-compliance or breach of relevant laws and regulations in
employment.

B(ll) HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group places a high value on health of our employees and
is dedicated to creating a safe working environment for our
employees. The safeguard for employees’ health and safety is
one of the most important parts of the Group’s corporate control
management.

To create a safe working environment, the Group has established
safety policies on the prevention and remediation of safety
accidents, and detection on potential safety hazards in workplace,
including regular safety inspections and launch of safety promotion
and safety training.

To mitigate the health and safety risk during manufacturing
processes, protective equipment would be provided to operating
employees, such as emergency eye wash equipment, helmet, gas
mask etc.
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As mentioned earlier, the Group sets up waste gas treatment
facilities and equipment to treat the waste gas generated during
our manufacturing process.

Our staffs are briefed and trained with safety and environmental
knowledge regularly to ensure that everyone understands the
risk of the task they are involved, has safety and environmental
consciousness and is familiar with safety and environmental
precaution measures.

Hazardous materials and wastes are handled separately with
great care. Emergency and evacuation procedures for fire were
established for timely and orderly response to any major safety
accidents.

The Group monitors the workplace safety continuously, and
performs a regular examination of workplace safety hazards. To
ensure the effectiveness of fire emergency control, the Group
appointed a third-party institute to test its fire alarms and inspect
its fire safety equipment.
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During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no occurrence of any fatal
accident.

B(lll) DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group pays attention to sustainable development of our
employees. As such, the Group arranges appropriate training
program in accordance with the needs of different departments,
covering the areas of environmental management, occupational
health and safety for employees. In addition, the Group arranges
orientation training for new employees with reference to their
positions.

The Group adheres to an open and responsible attitude and listens
to the opinions modesty; and improves its work efficiency by means
of continuous review and self-examination.
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B(IV) LABOUR STANDARDS

B.

It is clearly stated that child labor and forced labor is prohibited.
During the recruitment process, the Group would verify the actual
age of the applicant by checking to his identity card and other
records, in order to avoid hiring of child labor by mistake.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material non-
compliance or breach of relevant laws and regulations in child
labour and forced labour.

SOCIAL

Operating Practices

B(V) SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group pays great attention to the co-operation with suppliers
and greatly believes that establishment of a cooperation relationship
with suppliers would enhance the continuous improvement on the
Group’s operational flow and product quality.

Apart from the assessment of brand and quality, environmental and
social risk management is also taken into consideration as one of
the selection criteria for establishing strategic relationship.

The Group examines the performance of suppliers regularly
by onsite inspection. The Group also conducts suppliers’
comprehensive review annually.

B(Vl) PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

034

The Group believes that we could only get trust and support from
our customers upon we create the best value for them.

Facing rapid changes and increasing demands in the market,
the Group will adhere to quality, research and development and
service as our development plan and improve our operational
flow continuously. By upholding honest, servicing, aggressive,
responsible and win-win core culture and fully understanding
customers’ needs, the Group makes our every endeavour to meet
our customers’ needs and excel their expectations; and develop
and make progress mutually with our customers and co-operation
associates.

Health and Safety

The awareness on chemicals and expectation on product safety
from the public keeps on increasing. Being a chemical-responsible
corporation, accredited with the ISO 9001: 2015 and ISO 14001:
2015, we strictly monitor the quality and safety of our products.
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Since our manufacturing processes involve usage of chemicals,
we are committed to complying with local rules and regulations
on product safety, and protecting consumers’ health on using our
products. In accordance with the requirement of the ISO 9001:2015
and ISO 14001:2015, the Group implements stringent internal rules
and procedures for quality check during its manufacturing process.
Any non-conformity products must be handled properly, including
proper labelling and recording.

Advertising

The Group understands our customers’ rights and is committed to
providing accurate product and service information for customers
in connection with their purchase or consumption decision. The
Group requires careful review of advertising material to protect
customers’ interest.

Labelling

The Group is committed to providing sufficient and accurate
information and product label to customers and considers that
it is an extended responsibility of product safety management.
The Group provides clear and simple instructions, including the
danger, precaution measures and emergency treatment of chemical
products and contact information.

Privacy Matters
The Group is also committed to the protection of intellectual
property rights and the protection of customers’ data and privacy.
Customer data will not be used for publicity purposes without
customers’ consent.

Methods of Redress

Although the Group is to ensure the quality of our products and
services, at the same time, it requires that products with quality
issues should be returned or compensated in accordance with
terms of sales contracts. Return, recall, or compensation of
products is required to be offered to all customers who are affected
with consistent treatment and procedures.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material issues
on product health and safety, advertising, labelling, methods of
redress and privacy matters.
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B(VI) ANTI-CORRUPTION

B.

Anti-corruption is one of the basic principles of the corporate social
responsibility as defined by the international. The Group has a
zero-tolerance policy for corruptions by any forms (such as bribery,
extorting bribe, fraud and money laundering) and is committed to
operating its business with honesty, ethics and integrity.

The Group has established a code of conduct for the employees.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material issues
on corruptions.

SOCIAL

Community

B(VI) COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

036

The awareness on corporate social responsibility from the
public keeps on increasing which emphasizes that corporation
needs to operate and take society’s long-term development into
consideration instead of focusing on short-term target at financial
results and shareholders’ return. Being a social-responsible
corporation, the Group is committed to making every contributions
to its community where it belongs to.

The Group has all along concerned about the education issue
in impoverished areas. Construction of Youxin Peimiao Dingan
Primary School in Teng County, Guangzi, by donation since
2006, the Group has been helping various schools’ education
and construction of facilities by means of donation and voluntary
work by our staffs yearly. The Group knows the importance of
social corporate responsibility through the satisfaction of different
stakeholders and is committed to understanding the needs of
the community where the Group operates and actively making
contributions to sustainable development. In the future, the Group
will set up community investment policies to provide more concrete
management direction and measures to employees.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESkEREEERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. leong Un (“Mr. leong”), aged 64, being a founder of the Group,
is our executive Director, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. Mr. leong is primarily responsible for (i) the Group’s
strategic planning, including geographical and network expansion
of the Group’s business; (i) product research and development; (iii)
enhancement of the Group’s capability in marketing and promotion as
well as technical assistance to customers; and (iv) positioning the Group
in the adhesive industry. Mr. leong has been leading the Group engaging
in adhesive development, sale and production business. Mr. leong has
approximately 30 years’ experience in the adhesive related industry.
Prior to the establishment of the Group in 1990, Mr. leong held a senior
management position of Luen Ying Hong Company Limited, a distributor
of petroleum related products for more than 6 years in Macau. During
such employment, Mr. leong was responsible for the management of the
business operation, and the marketing and technical services team. Mr.
leong is the sole shareholder and sole director of All Reach Investments
Limited, the controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Ip Chin Wing (“Mr. CW Ip”) , aged 64, is our executive Director
and deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for
the management and daily operation of the Group and also assists
the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies and
implementing corporate and operational decisions. Prior to joining the
Group in 2001, Mr. CW Ip served as a general manager of Dongguan
Advanced Coatings Company Limited, a sino-foreign joint venture
company registered in the PRC. In 2009, Mr. CW Ip was awarded by
hmEA4E HEE (China Society of Productivity) and H B 3 it
(China Enterprise Newspapers Office) as China enterprise innovative
and outstanding person of 2009 (2009 & &1 B b 3 Al #1855 A ).
Mr. CW Ip obtained a certificate in industrial trade instruction from The
Hong Kong Technical Teachers’ College in 1982.
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Mr. Ip Ka Lun (“Mr. KL Ip”), aged 64, is our executive Director and
deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for overseeing
the treasury and administrative functions of the Group and also assists
the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies and
implementing corporate and operational decisions. Mr. KL Ip has 30
years’ experience of overseeing the operation of accounting and finance
departments. Prior to joining the Group in 2000, he was the manager
of finance and accounts department of Yaohan Department Store (H.K.)
Limited in Hong Kong from 1984 to 1997. He joined Noble City Holdings
Limited, a holding company carrying out construction materials related
business in the PRC, as a finance manager from 1998 to 2000. Mr.
KL Ip obtained a bachelor degree in business from Tamkang University
(Taiwan) in 1977.

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince (“Mr. Prince”), aged 56, is our executive
Director and the director of business and marketing of the Group. He is
responsible for overseeing sales and marketing functions of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in 2005, Mr. Prince worked as a general
manager of Interliance LLC. and was the chief representative of this
company in Shanghai, responsible for project management, business
intelligence and operational strategy. Mr. Prince graduated from Audrey
Cohen College in the U.S. with a bachelor of business administration
degree in 1992 and obtained a master degree of business administration
from Fordham University in 2001.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George (“Mr. Chan”), aged 63, is our
independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group in March
2010. He is the chairman and chief executive officer of Capital Focus
Asset Management Limited and an independent non-executive director
of Weigiao Textile Company Limited (Stock code: 2698), a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He had been a
director of Jardine Fleming Investment Services Limited. After leaving
Jardine Fleming Investment Services Limited, he joined HSBC Asset
Management Hong Kong Limited as an executive director. He has
extensive experience in fund management. Mr. Chan had held several
positions of public services, such as a member of the Financial Services
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, the
chairman of Investment Sub-Committee of and board member of Ocean
Park Corporation, and the chairman of the Hong Kong Investment Funds
Association China Sub-Committee. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of
mathematics degree from the University of Waterloo in 1978.
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Mr. Simon Luk (“Mr. Luk”), aged 53, is our independent non-executive
Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 2013. Mr. Luk has been
a responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the SFO since 2003. He has over 10 years’ experience in
asset management and investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various
investment advising companies. Since November 2016, Mr. Luk has been
the responsible officer of Qianhai Capital Asia Limited. During the period
from July 2014 to November 2016, he was the responsible officer of W.
Falcon Asset Management (Asia) Limited; and during the period from
2011 to November 2013, Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of Capital
Focus Asset Management Limited. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder
and responsible officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period
of 2000 to 2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity
portfolios. Mr. Luk has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of China Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock code:
1226) since 2 July 2014.

Mr. Tong Hing Wah (“Mr. Tong”), aged 48, is our independent
non-executive Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 2013.
Mr. Tong graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1993 with a bachelor degree in accountancy. He is a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has over 24 years of experience in regulatory
compliance, financial reporting, auditing and financial management,
including over 15 years of experience as the chief financial officer and/or
company secretary in Hong Kong listed companies from 1999 to 2015.
Mr. Tong is currently the director of a business consultancy firm.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zheng Guo Liang (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 55, is the production
and operation director of the Group. Mr. Zheng joined the Group as a
sales representative in 1990. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for
a mechanical engineering company in Zhuhai and responsible for the
mechanical maintenance for more than five years. Mr. Zheng finished
his secondary education in 1987. Mr. Zheng currently is responsible for
planning and operating matters in terms of production.

Mr. Wu Xiang Ming (“Mr. Wu”), aged 49, is the technical director of
research and development of the Group responsible for the establishment
and implementation of the research and development plan in accordance
with the requirements of the customers of the Group and the market.
He is also responsible for the general management of the research and
development team of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 2007,
Mr. Wu had more than 12 years’ research and development working
experience. He was a research and development manager of a Hong
Kong based chemical science company for seven years. Mr. Wu
graduated from #FEHIE T KE (East China University of Science and
Technology) (formerly known as % {t T2t (East China Institute of
Science and Technology)) in 1990 with a bachelor degree in engineering
and obtained a master degree of engineering from Zhejiang University
in 1996.

Mr. Zhong Xuan Feng (“Mr. Zhong”), aged 48, is the director of
human resources and information technology departments of the Group
responsible for diverse range of human resources activities of the Group
including recruitment, compensation and benefits, staff training and
employee relationship management. Apart from human resources, he is
also responsible for the development of information technology platform
to support the operation of the Group in accordance with development
needs. Mr. Zhong joined the Group in 1998. He had 6 years’ experience
of accounting. He was a head of accounting department of an investment
company. In 2006, Mr. Zhong was sponsored by the Group to study in
Hong Kong, and obtained a master degree in business administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2008.

Mr. Shum Hoi Luen (“Mr. Shum”), aged 43, joined our Group in April
2018 and was appointed as the Company Secretary in May 2018. Mr.
Shum is also the financial controller of the Company and is responsible
for overseeing the finance and accounting functions and corporate
finance and compliance matters of the Group. Mr. Shum obtained
a Bachelor of degree (Honors) in Accounting from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He is also a professional
member of Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource Management, a
full member of Hong Kong Public Relations Professionals’ Association
Limited, an associate and a certified tax adviser of the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong.
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
30 September 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a Hong Kong-based investment holding company. The
principal activities and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and review on the business activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), including a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 5 to 11 of this
annual report. These discussions form part of Report of the Directors. In
addition, details of the Group’s financial risk management are disclosed
in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
AND RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

The Group is committed to environmental protection and safety usage
of chemical products.

Environmental policies have been adopted by the Group for
implementation of environmentally friendly measures and practices in the
operation of the Group’s businesses. The Group has also reviewed its
environmental policies and performance from time to time in order to
minimise the environmental impacts from our business operations.

The Group is committed to providing an equal opportunities, a
harmonious and diversified working environment to our employees.

The Group maintains active relationship with our customers in the
industry to explore potential business opportunities and is highly
committed to delivering premium and quality products to our customers.

The Group maintains a list of approved suppliers (based on their prices,
quality, past performance and capacity).

During the year, there was no material dispute or argument between the
Group and its employees, suppliers and customers.
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Further discussion and review on the environmental policies and
performance and relationship with employees, suppliers and customers
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report set out on pages 23 to 36 of this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this Report of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to complying with the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised), of the Cayman lIslands, the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing
Rules and other relevant laws and regulations. So far as the Board is
concerned, there were no material breaches of or non-compliance with
the relevant rules and regulations by our Group that have significant
impacts on the business and operations of our Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 12 to 22.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2018 and the
Group’s financial position as at 30 September 2018 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 64.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.6 cents
per share to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 8 March 2019 (subject to approval by
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held
on 5 March 2019) for the year ended 30 September 2018 (2017: HK2.1
cents).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 143 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s authorised or issued share
capital during the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE OPTIONS fE R
The Company has conditionally adopted the 2010 Share Option Scheme. ARG HBKEHHRM —_Z S FHERETE -
Details of the 2010 Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the —ZE—ZTFHERETENFBHREATHR
consolidated financial statements. KM FE33 o
Summary details of the movement of the share options of the Company (ZEZE-N\FNA=ZTHLEFE  ARFHER
during the year ended 30 September 2018 are set out as follows: EEFBFEHRAMNT
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Exercised Lapsed
Outstanding during the during the during the  Outstanding
Exercise as at year ended year ended year ended as at
Date of  Exercise  price per 1 October 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
grant period Share 2017 2018 2018 2018 2018
R-E-tF BLE-2-\F BL-Z-N\§ BLI-®-\f R-ZF-N\F
Category/ g/ (=34 +B—-H AA=+A AA=+A AB=+H AB=+H
Name of grantee EREAMS REAH FTEHH fTiEE HATE LEEBRE LEEETE LEEBAXN W RITE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. leong Un Bk 30 May 2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 36,000 - - - 36,000
—Z-mERA=+A (WE1)  090%7
Mr. Ip Ka Lun EEfhgE 30 May 2014 (Note 1)  HK$0.90 36,000 - - - 36,000
—Z-WFERAZTA (Fif5E1) 0.90 T
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ER&EE 30 May 2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 36,000 - - - 36,000
—Z-mERA=+A (W&1) 09087
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham 30 May 2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 36,000 - - - 36,000
Prince Jt 4 —Z-WMERA=TH (W) 0.90% T
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Note 3) BERTEE(HEY) 30 May 2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 36,000 - - (36,000) -
—Z-mERA=+A (W&1) 0907
Independent BYEHTES
non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George Bk ke 30 May 2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 36,000 - - - 36,000
—Z-WMERAZ+H (W&1)  0.90% 7T
Employees and other EEREMMER 30 May 2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 808,000 - . (72,000) 736,000
individuals At —E-MERA=TH (Fii3E1) 0.90% 7T
Others Eip 7Jne 2016 (Note?  HK$1.30 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) -
ZZ-R"ERALE (f52)  1.30%7
Total Eoy 7,024,000 - - (6,108,000) 916,000
Notes: B 5 -
1. Subject to fulfillment of the pre-determined vesting conditions, the options shall be 1. HRETHEBEMHERE  BRESR=Z—N\F+
exercisable on or before 31 December 2018. ZA=+—HBEBXZAAFITE -
2. The options should be exercised on or before 6 December 2017. None of them was 2. EREER T —tF+-ARBERNZAITE -
exercised and all the options were lapsed during the year ended 30 September 2018. FEEBREARETEEMEEREARBEZ-Z
—N\EANA=tHIEFERK -
3. Mr. Tong Yiu On resigned as an executive Director with effect from 12 May 2018. 3. ERZEEEHOIHNTES BT \FRAA+=

H AR o
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised),
of the Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

In October 2017, the Company repurchased a total of 10,364,000
ordinary shares of the Company. All of these repurchased shares had
been cancelled in November 2017.

In July and August 2018, the Company repurchased a total of 6,912,000
ordinary shares of the Company. All of these repurchased shares had
been cancelled in August 2018.

Save as aforesaid, during the year ended 30 September 2018, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any other listed securities of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 September 2018, calculated
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised), of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$169,972,000 (2017: approximately HK$182,107,000). The share
premium account of the Company is available for distribution or paying
dividends to the Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles
and provided that immediately following the distribution or the payment
of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts immediately as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totaling
approximately HK$68,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 52.6% of the Group’s total revenue and sales to the
largest customer accounted for approximately 31.0% of the Group’s total
revenue during the year ended 30 September 2018.

The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 36.8% of the Group’s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 10.8%
of the Group’s total purchases during the year ended 30 September
2018.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the shares of
the Company) had any interest in the five largest customers or suppliers
of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. leong Un (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ip Chin Wing
Mr. Ip Ka Lun
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince
Mr. Tong Yiu On
(resignation with effect from 12 May 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George

Mr. Simon Luk

Mr. Tong Hing Wah

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its independent
non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines as set out under the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

There has been no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section of “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 37 to 40 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to Shareholders’ approval at
the general meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors
for the year ended 30 September 2018 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity provision
(as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout
the year and as at the date of approval of this Report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being a
Director, and in which the judgement is given in his favour or in which he
is acquitted. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
and officers arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Continuing Connected Transactions”
in the Report of the Directors and “Related Party Transactions” in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director nor a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the holding company of the Company,
or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 30 September 2018 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests

Corporation

As at 30 September 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

in the Company and Associated

(i) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

SR

(I

(i)

EERAQTREBZENES

RZBE-N\FNAA=+TH EFELRARE
HECAE (EE LBESF M BMERAIEXVER &R
- HERORESFTHREEARBEESIHE
fif Bl 55 36215k 5 A 5% 16 P #5 9 B RC T M Bk AR 1
FESTRIZANERNAT LB ED KX E

RARTEBRNOEFR

Number Approximate
Number of of share Total percentage of
Name of Director Capacity shares options interests Position shareholding
BEEpR 51 kia®E BREXKAE EXBE BB BasRaStL
Mr. leong Un (note) Interest in controlled 342,500,000 — 342,500,000 Long 55.66%
corporation
15 i 9 A (B 55) R GDEE R TR
Mr. leong Un (note) Beneficial owner 78,902,769 36,000 78,938,769 Long 12.83%
15 0 % A (B ) ERnBEAA =)
Mr. Ip Ka Lun Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%
e e EmEAA TR
Mr. Ip Chin Wing Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%
EREEE ERnBEAA HE
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince  Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%
Stephen Graham Princest 4 BZ#EEA FE
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%
BR Ak 3h % & EmnBEAA =)
Note: The 342,500,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) are held by All Reach Fff &%« ANA7E)342,500,0000% B 17 ([ B&43]) BB Al Reach

Investments Limited (“All Reach”), the entire issued share capital of which is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. leong Un. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. leong
Un is deemed to be interested in 342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach.

Investments Limited (Al Reach)) ¥4 + &
EHEHTRAAGHIELZEESHESR -
REFFLBEED BREEWERAR
All Reach #% & #7342,500,0004% f% 17 & # &

3 -
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(i)

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated (i) RHEEZEZERNITR
corporation
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares shareholding in
Name of associated in the associated the associated
corporation Name of Director Capacity Position corporation corporation
A 4E B8k 5% B Y RHEBEEN
HEEERE BN 513 BR kHaEE AR
All Reach Mr. leong Un Beneficial owner Long 100 100%
15 0 5 EmlEB A )
Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2018, none of the BrEXHEEN RZZE—NFLA=1+

Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN THE
COMPANY

As at 30 September 2018, the following interests and short positions of
5% or more of the Shares and underlying shares of the Company were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company

B BMEEZELRARAEIBITBRABER
REIREMEBOEE(ER LB R P ERK
PIEXVED) BB ~ BB R ESFTH#
BAREE 75 M BB IR £ 352{F i A%
fRPTE M B AR IE R ESTRIZAMN
SARARR RO EAEEIRE

TERRNARR 2 EHS

RZZB-N\FHLA=+TH UTRERFRH K

MR N5% A 2 s KX R ELERAR
AREBESFNHE KRG FIBHREEF 2 m

pursuant to section 336 of the SFO: Eafta:
Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares Position shareholding
BRERE 5% KBAHE B2 BiasRa ot
All Reach (note 1) Beneficial owner 342,500,000 Long 55.66%
All Reach (Bt &£1) EnlEBEA o)
Chan Sut Kuan (“Mrs. leong”) (notes 1 and 2) Interest of 421,438,769 Long 68.49%

spouse

REE (B AKDPTE1R2) fic 48 42 = A
Notes: BT 5E :

048

All Reach is directly, wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. leong Un. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. leong Un, an executive Director, is deemed to be interested in the entire
342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach. The total interests beneficially held by Mr.
leong Un are 78,938,769 Shares. Mrs. leong is the spouse of Mr. leong Un and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 421,438,769 Shares held by Mr. leong Un.

According to the laws of Macau, the regime of matrimonial property of Mr. leong Un
and Mrs. leong is community (2t @ B Z $1).
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2018, no person, other
than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’
Interests in the Company and Associated Corporation” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to section
336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Share Options” and “Disclosure of
Interests” in this report, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of material related party transactions is disclosed in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements. The transaction for the two years
ended 30 September 2017 and 2018 constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group that are fully exempted from independent
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year ended 30 September 2018.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules during the year ended
30 September 2018 and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in this annual report, there have been no
other material events occurring after the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (the “2018 AGM”) of the Company for the
year ended 30 September 2018 is scheduled to be held on Tuesday,
5 March 2019. A notice convening the 2018 AGM will be issued and
disseminated to the Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2018 AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
28 February 2019 to Tuesday, 5 March 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify
for the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming 2018 AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant Share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 February 2019.

For determining the entitlement of the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will also be closed from Monday,
11 March 2019 to Tuesday, 12 March 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant Share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 8 March
2019.

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong, being the auditor of the Company, changed the
Chinese name under which it practices from “f ¥ & 3 (& 745) € 1 B
EBHT to “BHESHEEHFT with effect from 22 November 2018
with its English name “RSM Hong Kong” remaining unchanged.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2018 have been audited by RSM Hong Kong, who will retire at the 2018
AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment RSM Hong Kong as auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2018 AGM.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited, who acted as auditor of the Company for
the financial year of 2015, resigned with effect from 21 March 2016 and
RSM Hong Kong was appointed by the Board with effect from 22 March
2016 to fill the casual vacancy and was re-appointed as auditor of the
Company by the Shareholders at the annual general meetings in 2016
and 2017. Saved as disclosed above, there have been no other changes
of auditor in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Ka Lun
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 December 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A RS

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INFINITY DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Infinity
Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 142, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 September 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

FARESFER
AREZFHENEESHNERHHERZAY
FAMBHRATEREENTH BENEZ
ERESAVHRRPERIE I FFHMB UK
BER -MASRUEIFTHRERERER -

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRERSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESYHARERSENER S ZE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFIGZE

Refer to note 7 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHREMBHRRMETRIT7

Management estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be HK$73,200,000 as at
30 September 2018 with a revaluation loss of HK$2,200,000
for the year ended 30 September 2018 recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Independent external
valuations were obtained in order to support management’s
estimates. The valuations are dependent on certain key
assumptions that require significant management judgments
including the adjustment factors used on comparable
properties. These adjustment factors were either based
on public published data or substantially unchanged since
30 September 2017.

EREM EEENREVER-_Z-NFAA=+RHZ
NFERT3,2000008 T U R BRRRFSFBE_T—
NEFENA=ZTHIEFENSHEER2,200,000/8 T - ©EF
BYINBEENFEREN MG - HEFGBRAEEREEL
BERHAEFNETERNRR  ERAELBYEMKANAER
HxE - ZERBEAXDERARTERBEIRE-_T—LF
NA=+HREERRE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

EEREREENREMELEMETNREFEE:

— Assessing the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity and independencies;

— AN EEMNERS  CRERFEEMNBIERRS
ZEBME KB

— Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the property industry; and

— EREFZFYUWMETENTE ST & R
BREEE M R

—  Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.
— ERRMEREERSARAR AR ERE BB -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Kong Wang.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

M A4S 32
%mﬁﬁ%
For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_T—)/\FNLA=THLLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 TiEx T T
Revenue Y 2= 8 663,036 539,557
Cost of goods sold 5B K AR (469,354) (355,523)
Gross profit EFH 193,682 184,034
Other income EH g A 9 4,744 5,056
Changes in fair value of investment KEMERTER
properties (2,200) 1,480
Other gains and losses bz kg8 10 6,078 (806)
Selling and distribution costs & R o iR AR (60,520) (56,149)
Administrative expenses THEA (96,813) (91,544)
Profit from operations EEGN 44,971 42,071
Interest on bank borrowings BITIEEF B (685) (1,211)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates FE(R B & N ElE R
(&) 22 195 (17,075)
Impairment loss of investment in an R—HEBERATNRERN
associate BB B 18 22 - (38,393)
Profit/(loss) before tax MRERER(EBE) 44,481 (14,608)
Income tax expense Frig i 11 (4,170) (5,671)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (BB 12 40,311 (20,279)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER (EHE)
— Basic — EXK 16(a) HK6.47 centsfll HK(3.21) centsfl
— Diluted — #E 16(b) Not applicable Not applicable

T iE A 8 A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEmakHMEERER

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREF(EE) 40,311 (20,279)
Other comprehensive income: Hih2mEUKZ:
Items that may be reclassified to ABEEFN 7 EEm B -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BHEBNEBEECELER
foreign operations (14,920) (1,340)
Share of other comprehensive income JEAEEE AR B2 mE e
of associates - (654)
Other comprehensive income FREMEEULE » AKRHKIE
for the year, net of tax (14,920) (1,994)
Total comprehensive income FREzEKZHEEE
for the year 25,391 (22,273)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE BN &
At 30 September 2018
RZE-N\FALA=+H

2018 2017
—E-N\F T+
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% T8 F&TT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment properties REME 17 73,200 75,400
Property, plant and equipment L 18 112,720 99,605
Land use rights T fE A 19 11,692 12,436
Intangible assets mEEE 20 2,569 1,806
Investment in associates REE NFNERE 22 6,832 2,753
Club debentures e HEEE 1,080 1,080
Deposits for acquisition of property, R EEMZE - B E R &
plant and equipment SRRk 4 74 96
Total non-current assets kRHEEHTE 208,167 193,176
Current assets mEBEE
Inventories FE 23 76,474 63,338
Trade, bills and other receivables ZZRERER - B ERE
Ko H At FE Y 3R I8 24 202,842 164,203
Restricted bank deposits SR FIRITF R 25 12,980 17,430
Bank and cash balances WITRIB & 25 72,074 91,686
Total current assets MEBEELE 364,370 336,657
Current liabilities mEBE
Trade, bills and other payables ZEZRNER  BRHRE
K Ho Ath JE < 5K 1B 26 112,144 81,199
Amount due to a related company JET— IR E QR FRIA 27 7,885 4,682
Bank loans |ITEMX 28 36,654 27,164
Current tax liabilities BNEAFR 1B B & 11,739 8,538
Total current liabilities mEBAEAR 168,422 121,483
Net current assets MEEEFE 195,948 215,174
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR &

At 30 September 2018
RZZE-N\FALA=+H

2018 2017

—F-N\#F —T—+F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

= FEx FET

Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAEE 404,115 408,350
Non-current liabilities knBHEaE

Deferred tax liabilities ELETIEBE 29 13,014 13,153

Net assets BEEFE 391,101 395,197
Capital and reserves BARARGGE

Share capital f& 7 30 6,153 6,326

Reserves {15 384,948 388,871

Total equity EREE 391,101 395,197

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 December 2018 and are EBER-_ZT—N\FE+_A -+ —HEZE=gH#E

signed on its behalf by: WHTIHESREREE:
Ip Chin Wing Ip Ka Lun
ER& EEMm
Executive Director Executive Director
BITEF BITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=) A L 44
REEREER
For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_T—)/\FNLA=THLLFE

Foreign
Capital Share-based currency Statutory
Share Share Treasury  redemption Special payments  translation Legal surplus Retained
capital premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserve fund profits Total
BXER HRAKHZ ABER EERH
T RiVEE E#RH e RRRE RERE e EERE i REER &t

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HKS 000
i Thr AL ThL Thr i i Thr AL ThT Thr
(Note 32(0Jf)) ~ (Note 32(0)il) ~ (Note 32()i)  (Note 321b)i))  (Note 32(0)()
(HsEs20) (M sEaam))  (Hszsopi)  (HaEsami) (R &Esab)v)

At 1 October 2016 R=F-~§1A-H 6,317 180,375 - 165 1,007 3,368 (6,770) 600 2,880 240412 428,444

Total comprehensive income EREENEAE

for the year - - - - - - (1994 - - 0279 22079
Dividends paid (Note 15 Bt & (5 15) - - - - - - - - - (13,266) (13,266)
Issue of shares upon exercise I TEBRERET

of share options & 9 95 - - - (149) - - - - 785
Share-hased payments WRGRZR 2 5B - - - - - 1507 - - - - 1507
Changes in equity for the year ~ EREZEH 9 92 - - - 1,358 (1.994) - - (33,545) (33.247)
At 30 September 2017 RZE-tENA=HA 6,326 181,300 - 165 1,097 4726 (8,764) 600 2,880 206,867 395,197
At 1 October 2017 RZE-+F+5-B 6,326 181,300 - 165 1,097 4,726 (8,764) 600 2,880 206,867 395,197

Total comprehensive income ERZENELEE

for the year - - - - - - (14,920) - - 40,311 25,391
Repurchases of shares E1ER ) - - (16,691) - - - - - - - (16,691)
Cancellation of shares HERR (173) (16,691) 16,691 178 - - - - - - -
Dividends paid (Note 15) ERRA(HiED) - - - - - - - - - (13,067) (13,067)
Share-based payments NGRSz 5B - - - - - 2N - - - - 2
Changes in equity for the year ~ FRERE (173) (16,691) - 173 - n (14,920) - - 21,244 (4,096)
At 30 September 2018 R-E-\ENA=1H 6,153 164,609 - 338 1,097 4,997 (23,684) 600 2,880 234,111 391,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

AN B E=
%/T =] }E ﬁ /ﬁ ==} %:Z
For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

FLOWS

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEENHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BrEATEF (&) 44,481 (14,608)
Adjustments for: KA F 2
Interest income B A (722) (748)
Finance costs b & B AR 685 1,211
Amortisation of intangible assets | E E 357 10,337
Amortisation of prepaid land lease T8~ 4 b 78 & K18 #E 8
payments 404 413
Depreciation e 10,480 6,879
Impairment loss of investment in an R—HEBERFNKRENRE
associate [=agi=! - 38,393
Allowances of inventories FERE 2,700 -
Allowances for trade and other B 5 e W AR 5% T2 ALt B W SR IR
receivables BE 5,840 —
Share of (profit)/loss of associates MBS Elz(EF),/ B R (195) 17,075
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERZEEIE
equipment - 458
Written off of property, plant and W - BB &R EME
equipment 246 363
Written off of inventories FEME 4,183 415
Written off of trade and other receivables B 5 e W AR 5% Te AL th FE W SR IR
1 38 - 348
Equity-settled share-based payments VARR 7S 45 E 09 Bz 10 15 3% 2 5B 271 1,507
Changes in fair value of investment HEMERNFEE
properties 2,200 (1,480)
Operating profit before working capital LEESEHINLERT
changes 70,930 60,563
Increase in inventories el (20,019) (9,120)
Increase in trade, bills and other BSEWENR BRERR
receivables Hh & W 3R IR 18 A0 (44,490) (15,841)
Increase in trade, bills and other payables BRNER BNEER
H fth & 5 SRIA S 1N 30,945 28,759
Cash generated from operations KEEBFBRS 37,366 64,361
Income taxes refunded P 1S MR 70 1,097 —
Income taxes paid BFTEH (1,985) (6,496)
Net cash generated from operating activities R TS IR & F R 36,478 57,865
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REREREXR

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_T—)/\FNLA=THLLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T8 FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFDHEENHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 F B 722 748
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BMERZMHE (26,694) (41,300)
Purchases of intangible assets BEBVEE (1,151) -
Deposits paid on acquisition of property, REEWE BERZREFIZM
plant and equipment Wiz e (74) (96)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant LEWE BELREZME
and equipment RIE - 130
Acquisition of interest in an associate U B — R B A R i - (476)
Capital injection in associates REEE QR ZEE (3,884) (2,330)
Decrease in restricted bank deposits =R 6l R 17 17 BOR 4,450 4,126
Net cash used in investing activities HEESMARE FEE (26,631) (39,198)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBELENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from exercise of share options TR R FT IS SR F 8 - 785
Repurchase of shares 8 B A% 19 (16,691) -
Finance costs paid EATEE KA (685) (1,211)
Dividends paid EMAKRE (13,067) (13,266)
Changes in amount due to a related B —EEERR 2 RIEE
company 3,303 (141)
Inception of bank loans FTIGRITER 26,308 8,000
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (16,818) (25,749)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBMTAR S FE (17,650) (31,582)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRAZEYRHRLEE
EQUIVALENTS (7,803) (12,919)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE /M ERSHHTE
CHANGES (11,809) ©912)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FURERBEELEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 91,686 105,513
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FXRRERFLEEY
END OF YEAR 72,074 91,686
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND ReRAZEYHIT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RIT MR & &k 72,074 91,686
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AR M R

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 10008, Willow House,
Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1001, Cayman Islands. The
addresses of its principal places of business in Hong Kong and
Macau (“Macau”) Special Administrative Regions, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) are Units 2201-2202, 22/F., Alliance
Building, 133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and 16 Andar
A-D, Macau Finance Centre, No. 202A-246 Rua de Pequim,
Macau, respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, All Reach
Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, is the immediate and the ultimate parent and Mr. leong Un
is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

— R E

ERFEERERAR(ARQT]) R M
RASEEFMAXIMER AR - it
fif #% % 5% Ho 1 A P.O. Box 10008, Willow
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RAME ((HRE]) SRR (R
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B HP1335R 15 K [E22182201—2202F &
BP0 b AT 202A — 24657 B PI & &
ROIBIEA-DE © A A H) IR0 70 & A B
ERGABRAG (B FR L/ -
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21 e
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Limited (— IR 28 /8 fe 20 B B 5E Ak 7 /Y
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m BB A

ZESRAVMBRRIBREFTEGFTMQ
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WER X
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Al et R FRANTR REETEL
M mEER - RER R BESHRE
FHEREAERAZFEASEARZER
MERSHBREMNEH2EHNEREBR
RABEEMERERP » WEHRHES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_T—)/\FNLA=THLLFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a)

(b)

066  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 5 % E = AR A 7

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 October 2017. None of these impact on the
accounting policies of the Group. However, the Amendments
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative
require disclosure of changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. The effect of the amendments
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements has been
the inclusion of additional disclosures in note 34.

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 October 2017. These new and revised
HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

i
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(b)
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Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or
after
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
BEUBHREERFIReM T E
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

EREVBBREENFIGRRERTFL AN S

Amendments to HKAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property

ERESFERBIORUBFT NI EME BB R EME
HKFRS 16 Leases

BEUBHREEDNFE16REE

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
RREERRMEHEE 2 T T

EEBRMBHRETREZES

1 January 2018
—\F—H—H
1 January 2018
—\F—H—H
1 January 2018
—\F—H—H
1 January 2019
—hF—HA—H
1 January 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far
the Group has identified some aspects of the new standards
which may have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts
are discussed below. Whilst management has performed
a high-level assessment of the estimated impacts of these
standards, that assessment is based on the information
currently available to the Group. The actual impacts upon the
initial adoption of the standards may differ as the assessment
completed to date is based on the information currently
available to the Group, and further impacts may be identified
before the standards are initially applied in the Group’s interim
financial report for the six months ending 31 March 2019.
The Group may also change its accounting policy elections,
including the transition options, until the standards are initially
applied in that interim financial report.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement of
financial assets, new rules for hedge accounting and a new
impairment model for financial assets.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018 on a retrospective basis. The Group plans to
adopt the new standard on the required effective date and
will not restate comparative information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2018
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3.

068

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Based on an analysis of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as at 30 September 2018 on the basis
of the facts and circumstances that exist at that date, the
directors of the Company have assessed the impact of
HKFRS 9 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements as
follows:

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise and measure
either a 12-month expected credit loss or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on the asset and the facts and
circumstances. The Group expects that the application of the
expected credit loss model will result in earlier recognition
of credit losses. Based on a preliminary assessment, if the
Group were to adopt the new impairment requirements
at 30 September 2018, accumulated impairment loss at
that date would be increased. The Group will perform a
more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and
supportable information, including forward-looking elements,
for estimation of expected credit losses on its trade and other
receivables upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue from contracts with customers. HKFRS
15 will replace the existing revenue standards, HKAS 18,
Revenue, which covers revenue arising from sale of goods
and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Construction
contracts, which specifies the accounting for revenue from
construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018. The standard permits either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption. The Group intends to adopt the standard using
the modified retrospective approach which means that
the cumulative impact of the adoption will be recognised
in retained earnings as of 1 October 2018 and that
comparatives will not be restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group
has identified the following areas which are expected to be
affected:

Timing of revenue recognition

Currently, revenue arising from the sale of manufactured
goods and trading of goods is generally recognised when
the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the
customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer

a
$&%4E\'J(%‘é)

E 28 5 18 i R & 2% B9 3 5T I AR
&5 & 8 B 5 3R 5 X B (4])
ERMBHRELRFIGRREER
A MY ()
REBLZSTEROTE  AREEH®
ETREERBEZITE:

l/ﬁ?ﬁ?/ﬁéﬁuﬁﬂai'
ERl - BHEEKMEERRHE
EMlRE—BREERABNERER
EIREBREREFRE TR -

RIBE B WS ERHE155 - I

obtains control of the promised good or service in the EREFPESAGOPAEE IR
contract. HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations in which control of B IEGIERER -  ERBMBRE
the promised good or service is regarded as being transferred AR F15% EEE% A m ARG 2

over time:

% 51 HEE R 5 B 65 T 8 5 ) = 78
R

a) When the customer simultaneously receives and a) ERXPREEREBAHRRKIG
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s MERERBENMEERDNT
performance, as the entity performs; =

b)  When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an by EERBHAESNNR—TE
asset (for example work in progress) that the customer BE(WMEREIR) MRZE
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; EWAENMERIIBER

PR

c)  When the entity’s performance does not create an ) EBEBEBAHWKRASEHERM
asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity FAEBRAEMNEE  B%E
has an enforceable right to payment for performance BHEZSTERNBAONTKER
completed to date. A o il 1T HEF o

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into
any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the entity
recognises revenue for the sale of that good or service at a
single point in time, being when control has passed. Transfer
of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators
that will be considered in determining when the transfer of
control occurs.

For contracts with customers in which the sale of
manufactured goods and trading of goods is generally
expected to be the only performance obligation, adoption of
HKFRS 15 is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
revenue or profit or loss. The Group expects the revenue
recognition to occur at a point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of
the goods.

Annual Report 2018 | =&

HEMERARBREHTIBNZE
BB ERN & H'ME?F%%S
M mEERFE155 2 EENE
—EREMAVEFHEEBR)EE
EHEmERGHER NS - #E
R B Ko O RS (2 S E R
EEBMREERETERENES
—HIER -

S RBHHEERKMAERRS
RE-—BHEENEPANMS -
?%Té%ﬁ%ﬁi%ﬂﬂ%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%w%ﬁ%ﬁ

B S AN S R e W 0 O AT
Mg AEERARRBERNE
—%Fﬁ%ﬁ(z%éfiz? HEEBERP
B)ELE —RARXNEmZE -

-NEE£5% 069



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

070

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related
interpretations. The new standard introduces a single
accounting model for lessees. For lessees the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed and
lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for all leases (with optional exemptions for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16 carries
forward the accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS 17
substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to
classify leases as operating or financing leases.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply the
simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the standard will affect
primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
The Group’s office property leases are currently classified
as operating leases and the lease payments (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under
HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure
a liability at the present value of the future minimum lease
payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset
for these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability
and depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be recognised
in profit or loss. The Group’s assets and liabilities will increase
and the timing of expense recognition will also be impacted
as a result.

As disclosed in note 36, the Group’s future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases for its
office properties amounted to approximately HK$2,384,000
(2017: HK$4,734,000) as at 30 September 2018. These
leases are expected to be recognised as lease liabilities,
with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is
adopted. The amounts will be adjusted for the effects of
discounting and the transition reliefs available to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2018
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)
HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments
The interpretation of HKAS 12 Income Taxes sets out how to
apply that standard when there is uncertainty about income
tax treatments. Entities are required to determine whether
uncertain tax treatments should be assessed separately or
as a group depending on which approach will better predict
the resolution of the uncertainties. Entities will have to assess
whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. If yes, the accounting treatment
will be consistent with the entity’s income tax filings. If not,
however, entities are required to account for the effects of the
uncertainty using either the most likely outcome or expected
value method depending on which method is expected to
better predict its resolution.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of the
interpretation on the consolidated financial statements until a
more detailed assessment has been completed.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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4.

072

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 30 September. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has power over
an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise
or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses in
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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4.

074

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

in each entity’s

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)
(iii)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated into
the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

—  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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076

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
leasehold land (classified as finance leases), held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than properties
under construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease

Buildings
— office units Over the term of the lease
— factory premises 5%
Furniture and fixtures and 10%—-25%
equipment
Leasehold improvements 20%
Motor vehicles 16%:%-20%
Plant and machinery 10%-20%
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property
is measured initially at its cost including all direct costs
attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment property are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

Leases

The Group as lessee

0 Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised on the straight-line basis over
the remaining term of the lease.
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078

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(i) Finance leases
Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as finance leases. At the commencement of the
lease term, a finance lease is capitalised at the lower
of the fair value of the leased asset and the present
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined
at the inception of the lease.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same
as owned assets over the shorter of the lease term and
their estimated useful lives.

The Group as lessor

0 Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

(g) Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful life are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible asset with indefinite useful
life is not amortised.

(i) Customer relationship
Customer relationship recognized as an intangible asset
is amortised over its estimated useful life of 5 years.
The useful life of the asset and its amortisation method
are reviewed annually.

(ii) Club memberships

For club membership with an indefinite useful life, no
amortisation is charged because the Company has the
contractual right to control over the asset and legal
rights with no definite period. For club membership with
a definite useful life, amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of club
membership over their estimated useful lives of 41 to
44 years.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

1)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(iii) Formula rights
Formula rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 5 years.

Club debentures

Club debentures with indefinite useful life is stated at cost
less impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or
when there is any indication that the club debentures have
suffered an impairment loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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(k)
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Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an financial
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of
the financial assets within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the case
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. These assets are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method (except for short-term
receivables where interest is immaterial) minus any reduction
for impairment or uncollectibility. Typically trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash are classified in this
category.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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082

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sales of manufactured goods and trading
of goods is recognised on the transfer of significant risks
and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered and the title has passed
to the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

The Group operates various post-employment
schemes, including both defined benefit and defined
contribution pension plans.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

®)

(u)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ili) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest
and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments granted.
The fair value is measured at the date the Group receives
the services and is recognised as an expense.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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4.

084

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties are
measured based on the expected manner as to how the
properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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086

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are
not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment annually
and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of impairment
and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an
expense through the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is
the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
pro rata amongst the assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether its financial assets are impaired, based on objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows
of the (group of) financial asset(s) have been affected.

In addition, for trade receivables that are assessed not to be
impaired individually, the Group assesses them collectively
for impairment, based on the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the delayed payments in
the portfolio, observable changes in economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables, etc.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly
reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the
amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent
period and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed (either
directly or by adjusting the allowance account for trade
receivables) through profit or loss. However, the reversal
must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the
amortised cost of the financial asset would have been had the
impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment
is reversed.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.
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088

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(aa) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt
with below).

(a) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
Group’s deferred tax for investment properties, the directors
have adopted the presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered through
sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and
residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives and residual values are different to
those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 30 September 2018 was approximately HK$112,720,000
(2017: HK$99,605,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made. During the year,
approximately HK$4,170,000 (2017: HK$5,671,008) of income
tax expense was charged to profit or loss based on the
estimated profit.

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of investment properties. In determining
the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation and inputs used are reflective of the current market
conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as
at 30 September 2018 was HK$73,200,000 (2017:
HK$75,400,000).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad
and doubtful debts, in particular of a loss event, requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of the trade and other receivables and
doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate
has been changed.

As at 30 September 2018, accumulated impairment loss
for bad and doubtful debts amounted to approximately
HK$5,840,000 (2017: Nil).
Allowances for slow-moving inventories and net
realisable value of inventories

Allowances for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowances amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and allowances charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates
are based on current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer’s taste and competitor’s actions in response to
severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates
by the end of each reporting period.

Allowances for slow-moving inventories of HK$2,700,000
(2017: Nil) were made for the year ended 30 September
2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

Impairment of investment in associates

Determining whether investment in associates are impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
investment in associates, when indicators of potential
impairment are identified. The carrying amount of investment
in associates at the end of the reporting period was
approximately HK$6,832,000 (2017: HK$2,753,000) and
the accumulated impairment losses were approximately
HK$38,393,000 (2017: HK$38,393,000).

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
Renminbi (‘RMB”), Vietham Dong (“VND”), Indonesian Rupiah
(“IDR”), Euro, New Taiwan dollar (“TWD”), Macau Palaca
(“MOP”) and United States dollars (“USD”). The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 30 September 2018, if the HK$ had weakened 5
per cent against the RMB with all other variables held
constant, consolidated profit (2017: loss) after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$174,000 lower (2017:
HK$137,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on trade and bills receivable denominated in
HKS$. If the HKS$ had strengthened 5 per cent against the
RMB with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit (2017: loss) after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$174,000 higher (2017: HK$137,000 lower),
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
trade and bills receivables denominated in HK$.
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6.

092

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

As at 30 September 2018, if the RMB had weakened 5
per cent against the USD with all other variables held
constant, consolidated profit (2017: loss) after tax for the
year would have been approximately HK$456,000 higher
(2017: HK$331,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of the
net foreign exchange gain on trade and bills receivable and
trade and bills payable denominated in USD. If the RMB
had strengthened 5 per cent against the USD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit (2017: loss) after
tax for the year would have been approximately HK$456,000
lower (2017: HK$331,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of
the net foreign exchange loss on trade and bills receivables
and trade and bills payables denominated in USD.

As at 30 September 2018, if the VND had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit (2017: loss) after tax for the year would
have been approximately HK$2,596,000 higher (2017:
HK$1,787,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gain on trade and bills receivable denominated
in USD. If the VND had strengthened 5 per cent against
USD with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit (2017: loss) after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$2,596,000 lower (2017: approximately
HK$1,787,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on trade and bills receivables denominated in
USD.

As at 30 September 2018, if the IDR had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit (2017: loss) after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$266,000 higher (2017:
HK$463,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gain on trade and bills receivable denominated
in USD. If the IDR had strengthened 5 per cent against
USD with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit (2017: loss) after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$266,000 lower (2017: HK$463,000 higher),
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss on
trade and bills receivables denominated in USD.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade,
bills and other receivables. In order to minimise credit risk,
the directors review the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt regularly to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this
regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Credit risk is concentrated in one (2017: one) customer,
which accounted for approximately HK$49,955,000 or
approximately 26% (2017: HK$19,742,000 or 15%) of the
Group’s total trade receivables. However, management
considers, based on the good credit history and the long-
term business relationship with that customer, there are no
significant credit risks.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with acceptable credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is

6.

(c)

TRERESEE)

RBESER(E)
AEEIFTESRABRELHRE
BRESRENINMEDIFMAT:

as follows:
Between Between
On Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
demand 1 year years years Total
RERE 2R—F —ZRF WELF Bt
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$S000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Financial liabilities cRaE
At 30 September 2018 R=ZE-NEhLA=+H
Trade, bills and other payables E 5 ERNED - ENZ1E
RHMENTIE - 112,144 - - 112,144
Amount due to a related B —HEEARRE
company 7,885 - - - 7,885
Bank loans (note) RITE () 36,654 - - - 36,654
44,539 112,144 - - 156,683
Financial liabilities cRaE
At 30 September 2017 H=—F—tENA=+H
Trade, bills and other payables EZERER - ERNZ1E
T H fth JE A 5018 - 81,199 - - 81,199
Amount due to a related e — R B E AR A
company 4,582 — — — 4,582
Bank loans (note) RITE (I 3E) 27,164 - - - 27164
31,746 81,199 - - 112,945
Note: B &

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on

094

demand” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 September
2018 and 30 September 2017, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these bank loans amounted to approximately HK$36,654,000 and
approximately HK$27,164,000 respectively. Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors do not believe that it is probable that the
banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid within one to
three years after the end of the reporting period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to approximately
HK$37,487,000 (2017: HK$27,907,000).

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

B S 1R ESROE UG R R IRTE VE i BIEA R
AMAATRERE WEBERAR - RZT—N\F
NA=Z+ER=ZZE—+tHFhAA=1+H  Z5H
TERNARRE NS LD R 5 #36,654,000
78 7T K #927,164,00078 7T © A8 5T I A S B /9 B
BARRE  BEERARITTAEITHERNSE
ERAHER - EERAE RSFRITERB
RBERRE —ZE=_FRNREBEERBHITH
FETERBHEE BN ASLBEAE
& 218 A 437,487,000 L (=2 —+
£ : 27,907,000 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank deposits and bank loans. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of interest so as
to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Borrowing Rate
arising from the Group’s HK$ denominated borrowing.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits bear interests at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value interest
rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its
bank deposits and bank borrowings. These deposits and
borrowings bear interests at variable rates that vary with the
then prevailing market condition.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank
balances and bank loans at the end of the reporting
period and assumed that the amount of assets and
liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. 50 basis points (2017: 50
basis points) were used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The management does not anticipate
a decrease in interest rate in the next financial year having
regard to the trends in market interest rates and global
economic environment. Accordingly, sensitivity analysis on a
decrease in interest rates is not presented.

6.

THEEREEE)

(d)
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6.

096

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(d)

(e)

(f)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on bank balances and bank loans had been
50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points) higher and all other
variables were held constant, the potential effect on profit/

(d) FIRER(E)

TRERESEE)

19817 4 B R 4R 7T B AR MO R 1 38
501 2 8 (= F — + 4 : 5016 2 8)
T F 7 £ A 8 BUR 45 TR

EUEagcs

(loss) for the year is as follows: RiEH (BERMBESENT:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Increase in profit (2017: decrease in loss) F 35 F) 38 0
for the year ZE—tF BERLD) 10 164
Categories of financial instruments e) EMIEMNEHR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
Financial assets EMEE
Loans and receivables (including cash ERREWRFEBE(RERS
and cash equivalents) MR EEY) 276,480 263,543
Financial liabilities 2HMAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R A T EH
cREaE 153,470 111,621

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

) BFE

BAFEMEE -
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure

fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

NFEFE
RFEERFEREMS2EEZHARE
FREFPUHEEEMBEEBEAEM
A2 B o W TR EFFEREIRA
BARGEAFENEERT2H8E S
R 2 R FERBREL:

F—MEL AEEARFAERHREZ
28 HRAEEXABEE EEMS
ZHRECREHE) -

E-MEHR E— B EEZRENL
28  CEHEIEBNEELEE
AHELH -

F-REHR BEXABZITAHEEZ
28 2 -

AEBENBRRASNERBLENGHELE

malEMmERERERE —EERTHE
A—EERNEAREY -
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. RYEFEGE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 (@) R=-FE—NFALA=+HZR¥F
September 2018: EEHREE:
Fair value
measurements Total
using Level 3 2018
i #% FA #9
ATEFE &5t
E=RER —E2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FE&x
Description $i it
Recurring fair value measurements: BEHEQTFEHGME
Investment properties REME
Office units — Macau MAEEMN — B 69,000 69,000
Office units — the PRC WMAEBL — 4,200 4,200
Total &t 73,200 73,200
Fair value
measurements Total
using Level 3 2017
Fr % A &9
NYERE a5
EFE-RER —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TFHT
Description $i it
Recurring fair value measurements: KREMEATEF=
Investment properties BREME
Office units — Macau MAEEL — BF 70,700 70,700
Office units — the PRC MAEBML — 4,700 4,700
Total At 75,400 75,400

098
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value

~

R~ EFEE)

REF=-REREQAFENE

based on level 3: ZEEHK:

Investment 2018

properties Total

—E-N\F

REME &5t

HK$’000 HK$°000

FTE&x TE&x

At beginning of year REA]) 75,400 75,400

Total loss recognised in profit or loss® RIB R R B 1B Y (2,200) (2,200)

At end of year RER 73,200 73,200
#) Include loss for assets held at end of WEERSHERMBEEE

reporting period o)t (2,200) (2,200)

Investment 2017

properties Total

—E 4

REYE &t

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T FET

At beginning of year REH 73,920 73,920

Total gain recognised in profit or loss® RIE = MR A I s B R 1,480 1,480

At end of year REFER 75,400 75,400
#) Include gain for assets held at end of WERERESHRAMFEE

reporting period 4 7 1,480 1,480

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including
those for assets held at end of reporting period are presented
in changes in fair value of investment properties in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

REZHEIANBDAEREEE
EREPRRAHEENREHER)
DA RERNREMERTE

28X x -
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7.

100

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 30 September
2018:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial controller reports directly to
the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the financial controller and the Board of Directors
at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform
the valuations.

3 fair value

Key unobservable inputs used in level

measurements are mainly:

- Floor level difference (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

—  Size difference (estimated based on actual data)
—  View difference (estimated based on valuation experts’
in-house database)

- Market quote adjustment factor (estimated based on
valuation experts’ in-house database)

- Market yield (based on public information on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

—  Time difference (estimated based on valuation experts’
in-house database)

- Location difference (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

7.
(c)
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. ANFEEFFEE)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the (c) R=FE—-NFAA=+HAEXE
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used FFERNGERFRQTFEG
in fair value measurements at 30 September EfFRANAERTTRZEH 2
2018: (Continued) T (i])

Level 3 fair value measurements E=HERAFEFE
Fair value
AFE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of
Description technique inputs Range inputs 2018 2017
2 838
i g 168 Kl FTAHESH #E QATFENFE —E2-N\F& —zZ2—t+4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiExT FAT
Office units located in  Income approach Floor level difference 0% to 3% Increase 69,000 70,700
Macau (2017: 0% to 6%)
RRRPIMMATEN WA EEEZR 0%%E3% N
(ZZE—+F 1 0% %E6%)
Size difference 0.4% to 3.7% Increase
(2017: =0.08% to 3.75%)
ANhER 0.4%ZE3.7% &

(ZZ2—+%:-0.03%£3.75%)

View difference 0% Increase
(2017: 0%)
BTl 0% &N

(ZE—EF:0%)

Market yield 21% to 2.7% Decrease
(2017: 2.1% to 2.7%)
35 I a8 X 21%E27% RS

(ZE—+F 21%E2.7%)

Time difference —14% to 5.8% Increase
(2017: 0%)
HHEZER -14%Z%E5.8% 10

(ZE—EF:0%)

Market quote -10% to 0% Increase
adjustment factor (2017: 0%)
mEREAEAER -10%ZE0% N

(ZE—EF:0%)
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7.

102

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 30 September

(c)

2018: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

7. RYFEFEE)
() R=B—NFAA=+AFEE
FRANEERFERD FE
EFRANGERTRSBZ

WE: (@)
E=HERLTEHEE

Fair value
DEE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of
Description technique inputs Range inputs 2018 2017
28EmE
bi:gud h1E F i TUERZY #E AFENFRE —T-N\F -—T—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FET
Office units located Income approach Size difference -71% to =8.7% Increase 4,200 4,700
in the PRC (2017:-7.1% to —6.1%)
RIRFBR P AEEN WA ANhER ~7T1%ZE-3.7%
(ZF—+tF:T71%E-6.1%)
Market quote -10% Increase
adjustment factor (2017: =10%)
TEREABAER -10% &
(ZZ—CF:-10%)
Market yield 5.63% to 6.29% Decrease
(2017: 5.16% to 5.17%)
35 i % = 5.63%%6.29% i
(ZZF—+ 5 :516%E517%)
Floor level difference —-3% to 0% Increase
(2017: 0%)
BEZR -3%%E0% M
(ZZT—+F:0%)
Location difference -10% to 0% Increase
(2017: 0%)
UEER -10%%20% 5N

During the two years ended 30 September 2018 and 2017,
there were no significant changes in the valuation techniques

used.

(ZZ2—EF:0%)

Ml mE N -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segment information

As the Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales
of adhesives, primers, hardeners and vulcanized shoes adhesive
related products used by the footwear manufacturers; and acting
as the sales agent for adhesive used in the production of electronic
products, which are subject to similar business risks, and resources
are allocated based on what is beneficial to the Group in enhancing
the value of the Group as a whole, the Group’s chief operating
decision maker considers the performance assessment of the
Group should be based on the profit before tax of the Group as a
whole. Therefore, the management considers there to be only one
operating segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by products is as follows:

Wak Kooy BE #

REQEEN
HRARETZRERERHEERER
PREEREB A - RIEE - BB kit
ERNTEBER ARKBHELES
FERMANBHE @ ERALEER
% BAERZBEALASEREEERN
MRADE  AEREBEEEERRERS
AEBRREFERERANEEEERBT
AR AEL - Bt - EEERS - REE
BB REENFSREL D EORT
BRE-—EZ&E -

AT RmEmEI D2 AN EE WS D

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TE&x FHET
Sales of HE

— vulcanized shoes adhesive related — MItEBHBEBER R
products and other shoe adhesives Hfth =R 385,251 348,723
— primers — IR 71,289 61,867
— hardeners — @A 68,073 57,767
— electronic adhesive related products — ETRBHMBIBEER 93,627 34,364
— others — Hip 44,796 36,836
663,036 539,557
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104

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Operating segment information (Continued)

Revenue from external customers, based on geographical locations
of customers, attributed to the Group is as follows:

Wk BEFR(8)

BEEER(H)
REPHREMIZERINE » 2 ANEBIMNFE
PYsmT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Revenue I 2=

— PRC — HFE 249,540 178,734

— Socialist Republic of Vietnam — BBt ERAE
(the “Vietnam”) ([#m)) 341,280 281,671
— Republic of Indonesia (the “Indonesia”) — HERAZEMEENRED 32,257 35,763
— Bangladesh — @i 39,959 43,389
663,036 539,557

During the year, there was a customer contributing revenue of
approximately HK$205,789,000 (2017: HK$190,788,000) which
accounted for more than 31% (2017: 35%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by their geographical
locations is as follows:

FR - RE—HBE PR E 205,789,000
7T (ZZF —+ 4 : 190,788,000/ 7T) 14
NEBEOBIEE31% (ZF —+F :35%)
PA ko

29038 2 0 81 2 AR BT EEN
mF :

2018 2017

—E-NEF —E—LtF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FH T

Hong Kong &5 75 293
PRC th 39,087 40,423
Macau R P 84,377 81,293
Vietnam g 81,686 69,674
Indonesia e 2,848 1,384
Others Hh 94 109
208,167 193,176
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9. OTHER INCOME 9. H A

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Interest income on bank deposits RITF AT B U A 722 748
Income from sale of scrap materials HEBRMBKA 732 519
Government grants (note) B 78 B (B 53) 1,261 1,178
Gross rental income from investment properties & & ¥ N AL A @58 1,957 1,846
Other Ei 72 765
4,744 5,056

Note: Government grants mainly related to the subsidies received from the local B 5 RS AR Bh 3 2 48 b 75 BT A B AR R E B B

government authority for the achievements of the subsidiaries of the Group. NRIB LT BB -
10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Efb iz & E 18
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
Exchange gains, net EH e - TR 6,825 418
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BEREKEEIE

equipment - (458)
Written off of property, plant and equipment — #1 % - & = [ =% & i 84 (246) (363)
Others Hh (501) (403)
6,078 (806)
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11.

106

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FriEHRx
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TH&T
Current tax: Bl HA R 18 -
Provision for the year FANEE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT”") — RECERER
((ESCERESHRD 1,879 833
— Macau Complementary Tax — B E M 1,845 1,485
— Vietnam Enterprise Income Tax — BELCEMEM
(“Vietnam EIT”) (MR EMmBHD 261 1,949
— Indonesian Corporate Income Tax — HIERAB AT
(“Indonesian CIT”) (BB BH) - 749
Under-provision in prior years BAEFEREBETT 151 336
4,136 5,352
Deferred tax (note 29) i AE 77 18 (M 7529) 34 319
4170 5,671

The PRC EIT, Macau Complementary Tax, Vietham EIT and
Indonesian CIT are calculated at the applicable rates in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations in the respective jurisdictions.

The PRC EIT has been provided at a rate of 25% (2017: 25%).
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Macau, the
Macau subsidiaries are subject to Macau complementary tax at a

maximum rate of 12%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a

subsidiary in the PRC, BK8MEEHEAEMBERAF (Zhuhai
Centresin  Chemical Product Company Limited) (“Zhuhai

Centresin’), is recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise by the relevant PRC government authorities and Zhuhai
Centresin was therefore entitled to enjoy a concessionary PRC EIT
rate of 15% (2017: 15%) for the year ended 30 September 2018.
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Vietham, Zhong Bu
Adhesive (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. (“Vietham Centresin”) was entitled to
the preferential Vietham EIT of 15% from 2005 to 2016 and entitled
exemption from the Vietnam EIT for three years commencing from
its first profit-making year in 2006, followed by a 50% reduction
from 2009 to 2015.

Entities in Vietham engaged in qualified expansion investment
projects are eligible for a Vietnam EIT exemption for the first year
to the second year, and a 50% reduction for the third year to
sixth year starting from the year in which the entities first generate
income from the expansion investment projects, on the assessable
profits from such expansion investment projects. Vietnam Centresin
was entitled to the tax incentive for its expansion investment project
from 2017 to 2022. The remaining assessable profits that are not
generated from these expansion investment projects, is subject to
the Vietnam EIT at a standard tax rate of 20%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Indonesia, PT.

Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia, is subject to Indonesian CIT at 25%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

11.

PSR F < (48)

R MR A B L B &£ #R - Zhong Bu
Adhesive (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. ([ 9 2Bt g
BE)E-TSERAFE-T— A FA=2H
15%MEBEEEECEMESRHE  ha=
TEARNFHEBMNFE RS =FRAIER
PENBBEEMSEHR  AZTTNFE
T —RFHEREMNATEH

EBEETREBZREBEENEERAN
FFEF_FERREAMEBLER
Bh - URZERAZSEZREREE
BEERANEFRIG  BE=FEEAX
FHE0% T L F BB I ETH B A
JERBEA - PRSI IEREE — T —tF
ECE-_FAFAHERREBRANM
BEE MNARRBBNL RBZEE
RIRERBMESL  JhARBEERE20%
BB L EMEN -

RIZENEAEREA B K AR + PT. Zhong Bu
Adhesive IndonesiaZB1%25% . Fit & 4 4% £
ERRIFTIEH -

HRAREL AR EEELXNESTM
WA BARRBENSHRIFLEE -
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 1. SRR (E)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the Fﬁ Tﬁfaﬁﬁfiéﬁiﬁmﬁ\ wmF(E518) kAR
product of profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT rate is BIZEAENME L AEERAT:
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax B & E R (E 18) 44,481 (14,608)

Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% (2017: 25%) 1% 1 B 1> % A 15 Fi F R 25%

(ZZ—tF : 25%) st BT IE 11,120 (3,652)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible AR FI L VTR 75 &2 28 6,019 9,694
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BEMBRBRANTBELE (736) (369)
Tax effect of tax exemption and tax concession &% & THEB ARG B LI
granted to certain subsidiaries HERNRBEEE (15,463) (6,050)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERNMIBEEENB G E 3,514 1,906
PRC dividend withholding tax EP B B TR 239 152
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMFEERLEHE QR
operating in other jurisdictions HRATRAMENTZE 40 3,435
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETR 151 336
Tax effect of temporary difference not AERCEREBNM G E
recognised (378) 219
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not A LATE R e SR ) 0 75 B 1B Y
previously recognised B E (336) -
Income tax expense Fr{S i 2 4,170 5,671
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12. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 12. FAmHN,(EB1E)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET
The Group’s profit/(loss) for the year is stated 7N EE RHF (B 8B) B2k
after charging the following: LATNIER :
Auditor’s remuneration % B0 AN B &
— audit service — ZE R 1,150 1,200
— non-audit services — FEZERH 550 556
Amortisation of B 5y
— intangible assets - EmEEE 357 10,337
— prepaid lease payments on land use rights ~ — b fF AR TE N T E K 404 413
Depreciation e 10,480 6,879
Operating lease rentals in respect of UTEIEMNEEHENE S
— motor vehicles - AE 3,930 3,288
— rented premises and leasehold land — HEMERBEE T 3,910 4,204
Royalty fees included in cost of goods sold FTASHER AR T B 2,889 2,830
Research and development expenses 2 = 4,340 3,100
Allowances for trade and other receivables B 55 e W BR SR Fe HoAth jE UK 5K IE
B 5,840 —
Allowances for inventories FEEE 2,700 —
Written off of trade and other receivables B 55 e W BR SR Fe HoAth jE UK 5K IE
1 88 - 348
Written off of inventories FEHME 4,183 415
Equity-settled share-based payments to IR AEEHRNDEZSTER 2
consultants KIE 262 1,431
And after crediting: RETALATIEE
Gross property rental income before RMBRZEANMERS WA
deduction of outgoings e 1,957 1,846
Less: Outgoings i (380) (235)
1,677 1,611
Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and BEFEXNABREEIRA  FERLE
operating lease charges of approximately HK$13,092,000 (2017: FAEM 2 413,092,000 T (Z T —+4F:
HK$13,793,000) which are included in the amounts disclosed 13,793,000/ 7T) * WET A B M 58
separately. A o
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 13. EIREAIMAX
2018 2017
—E-NEF —ET—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
Employee benefits expense: BIRMAX:
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e TEAL R EBRL 50,881 47,469
Equity-settled share-based BERABEET ARG FRZ
payments IE 3 52
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORAEFFT 84 R 4,028 9,752
54,912 57,273
Five highest paid individuals TEREHFAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year FR - AEBREEaSHFATHFRERS
included five (2017: five) directors whose emoluments are reflected (ZE2—+tF AR)EF FENHEF
in the analysis presented in note 14(a). BEH R 4@ DA -
14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EFRHM NA &=
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@) EEM=
The remuneration of every director is set out below: ZEENMESHINDOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
BAFRAEERUBBEEKRIERNHE
(FREAQB S EME QR RE)

Employer’s
contribution
Estimated to a
money value retirement
Discretionary of other benefit
Fees Salaries bonus benefits scheme Total
[EL!
Hin @789 RIKEF
e e MERL Het2BEE HEHOERR gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T § i P T T
(Note i)
(i 5%i)
Name of director EEHA
Mr. leong Un 5 % & - 3,370 997 1 270 4,638
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERERE - 1,728 139 1 138 2,006
Mr. Ip Ka Lun EEmEE - 1,728 147 1 138 2,014
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince  Stephen Graham
Prince 5t & - 1,728 197 1 138 2,064
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Note (i) % % 4 (M 5 (i) - 1,155 91 1 85 1,332
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George FR ok # % 4 144 - - 1 - 145
Mr. Simon Luk BER 2 %4 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Tong Hing Wah mEELE 144 - - - - 144
Total for 2018 B \F@ 432 9,709 1,571 6 769 12,487
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14. BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

14, EF@EMENE(8)

(a)

EEM< (B

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

BAAERESRURGE WK BENOE S

(iR AN A7) 3 H B B R AR )

Employer’s
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement
Discretionary of other benefit
Fees Salaries bonus benefits scheme Total
EEM
H 48 19 RKE A
ik e I Mt eBEE a4 Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FET FET FAET
(Note i)
(B 550
Name of director EEnR
Mr. leong Un 15 5T & - 3,197 805 4 224 4,230
Mr. Ip Chin Wing HERERE — 1,638 175 4 115 1,932
Mr. Ip Ka Lun ExEmkis — 1,638 169 4 15 1,926
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince  Stephen Graham
Prince 5t 4 — 1,638 308 4 115 2,065
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Note (i) & 1 % 5t A (T 3 (i) — 1,638 123 4 115 1,880
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George BRoX#h %4 144 — = 4 — 148
Mr. Simon Luk bR 2k A 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Tong Hing Wah BEEL A 144 — = - — 144
Total for 2017 -t FEE 432 9,749 1,580 24 684 12,469
Notes: |;ﬁ Ef .
(i) Estimated money value of other benefits include share options.

(if) Resignation with effect from 12 May 2018.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year (2017: nil).

The Company did not grant any housing allowances to the
Directors during the year ended 30 September 2018.

Directors’ material interests
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements,
and contracts amongst group companies, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
and other director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

in transactions,

(b)
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(ii) AT NERA+-BRAEN -

FA BEIZTRABEREME
EMRXFABHETAHE (ZF—
tEFEE) -

BE_ZT-)\ENLA=1THLFE "
RABYEFAEFHEREAERZ
B e

EERNRS ZTHHEAHPH
EX#E=

BRAGREMBEHRREEERR HA
BHMBEEI RAFEHERE
KARFRAEAER - L AFER
RASHEFTIMARB —REER
HEENMETERAHERSE
ETEARGNEMEARS X
BRAEH -
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15.

16.

112

DIVIDENDS

During the year, the final dividend for 2017 of HK2.1 cents (2017:
final dividend for 2016 of HK2.1 cents) per ordinary share, totalling
approximately HK$13,067,000 (2017: HK$13,266,000) was declared
and paid to the shareholders.

The final dividend for 2018 of HK2.6 cents per share has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the shareholders at the annual general meeting.
The proposed final dividend of approximately HK$15,998,000 is
calculated on the basis of 615,315,076 shares in issue at the date
of this report.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the following:

15.

16.

i% B
FRN - ARAIMBRRERMEFT=Z—+
FREREEREBBR2ABW(ZE—+
F:ZE-RNFERERB208) - &H%
13,067,000/ 7T (= ZF —+ £ : 13,266,000
BIT) o

ARREBEEFEZRN T —/\FREKE
SRR26E M - HASKRERBRERFKR
LEAERFAEE - BRERNAKRER
B #915,998,000/8 T Jh i A ¥R £ HEAE &%
77615,315,076 % IR M EE 5T & -

slan (EE)

(a) BREXERF (E5HE)
SRERRF, (BR)IETIFS
SR

2018 2017
—ZE2—N\F Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT T T
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of calculating stE&KREAEF (EE)Z
basic earnings/(loss) per share Br,/(kE) 40,311 (20,279)
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—LtF
’000 ‘000
T8 F &
Number of shares g g
Weighted average number of ordinary  stE&BREXEF (EE)Z
shares for the purpose of calculating L5 A% N AE 3T &
basic earnings/(loss) per share 622,681 631,774

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
No diluted earnings/(loss) per share is presented as the
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares
during the years ended 30 September 2018 and 2017.
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17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

7. WEME

HK$'000
FAET
Fair value /NSOl

At 1 October 2016 R-ZE—XRF+A—H 73,920

Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRAREBERERN AT EEINFE
during the year 1,480

At 30 September 2017 and 1 October 2017 RZE—EFNA=TERK

—T—+F+H—H 75,400

Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss FAREZBERNRFER D FEE
during the year (2,200)
At 30 September 2018 RZE—NFNLA=1H 73,200

Investment properties were revalued at 30 September 2018 and
2017 by Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an independent
firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for Macau and PRC office units was derived using
the Income Approach (or sometimes referred to as a method of
the Market Approach for the reversionary interests and the rate
of return are market-derived) by taking into account the current
rent receivables from the existing tenancy agreements and the
reversionary potential of the property interests.

As at 30 September 2018, the carrying amount of investment
properties amounted to HK$69,000,000 (2017: HK$70,700,000)
was pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group as set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BREMERBIEFAEMTNIE
BHERAANRE-NFR-_ZT—+F
NA=THETEMR -

RPN E B AR A B R A
(RBERFERMEE  ERNERERS N
kR BRMBEE) Lt RRTHE
th i B0 IR I B W & e RAE RV TR R AT BE
1 o

RZE-N\FALA=1+HEH BEDED
R ™ & 469,000,000/ T (Z T — + F:
70,700,000/ 7T) A FIRITIERA IR T
EERTEEZERFRBIRERETB
RFMW 5E28) ©
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

114

18. W% WENMZE

Furniture,
Land and fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plant and Construction
buildings equipment improvements vehicles machinery in progress Total
B - H#BER
T REF RiE HEMEHEE RE BERBESE rREIE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Cost %N
At 1 October 2016 RZE-—R"FTA—H 27,823 7,017 5,807 4,918 31,722 27,866 105,153
Exchange difference EHERE 372 93 8 13 247 (148) 585
Additions NE 1,619 1,017 = 492 3,217 44,591 50,936
Transfers (=472 31,926 1,078 - 50 28,607 (61,661) -
Disposals HE - (313) - (287) (1,413) - (2,013)
Written off i 85 (454) (122 - = (978) = (1,554)
At 30 September 2017 and RZ=Z—tFNA=FH
1 October 2017 k=Z—tF+A—H 61,286 8,770 5,815 5,186 61,402 10,648 153,107
Exchange difference EREEZE (1,699 (318) 8) (164) (1,381) (270) (3,840)
Additions NE 2,741 1,727 - 2,106 2,656 17,560 26,790
Transfers ®i% 6,772 2,197 = 137 12,960 (22,066) =
Written off i (128) (45) - (707) (248) - (1,128)
At 30 September 2018 RZZE—N\FAA=1H 68,972 12,331 5,807 6,558 75,389 5,872 174,929
Accumulated RitHE
depreciation
At 1 October 2016 RZE—R"F+A—H 12,154 4,350 5,130 3,889 23,081 - 48,604
Exchange difference ERER 220 54 — 5 356 — 635
Charges for the year FRIH 1,796 751 193 582 3,557 - 6,879
Disposals HE - (265) - (257) (903) - (1,425)
Written off i 85 (341) (76) = = (774) = (1,191)
At 30 September 2017 and R-Z—t&HLA=+H
1 October 2017 kRZZ—+E+A—H 13,829 4,814 5,323 4,219 25,317 - 53,502
Exchange difference ERER (376) (79) ©) (24) @11) — (891)
Charges for the year FRZH 2,878 1,410 193 644 5,355 - 10,480
Written off i 85 (48) 22) - (707) (105) - (882)
At 30 September 2018 RZTE—-\FNA=1H 16,283 6,123 5,515 4,132 30,156 = 62,209
Carrying amount IREE
At 30 September 2018 RZZE-N\FALA=1H 52,689 6,208 292 2,426 45,233 5,872 112,720
At 30 September 2017 RZT—+tFNA=+H 47,457 3,956 492 967 36,085 10,648 99,605

At 30 September 2018 the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment amounted to approximately HK$3,678,000 (2017:
approximately HK$3,786,000) was pledged to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group as set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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19. LAND USE RIGHTS 19. X HbfF A4
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Carrying amount RHAE
At beginning of year NG 12,846 13,544
Exchange difference EHER (351) (285)
Amortisation for the year &F N Y (404) (413)
At end of year RER 12,091 12,846
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BHREBHM AT
Current assets (included in trade, bills and other REIEE (Gt A B 5 EIEE R -
receivables) (note 24) JE W 2R 4R T H At i W SR IR )
(Fff 5£24) 399 410
Non-current assets ERBEE 11,692 12,436
12,091 12,846

Annual Report 2018 | —Z—\FF®k 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_T—)/\FNLA=THLLFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. B EE
Club Formula Customer
memberships rights relationship Total
i Be 75 EFE#% &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Cost R A
At 1 October 2016 RZZE—XF+A—H 1,656 1,600 40,000 43,156
Exchange difference fEHER (14) - - (14)
At 30 September 2017 and R-ZT—+ 4
1 October 2017 NB=+BxK
—ZE—tF+H—H 1,542 1,600 40,000 43,142
Additions NE 1,151 — - 1,151
Exchange difference =R (33) - - (33)
At 30 September 2018 RZZE—N\F
NA=+H 2,660 1,600 40,000 44,260
Accumulated B EHER
amortisation and WEBE
impairment losses
At 1 October 2016 RZZE—XF+A—H 39 960 30,000 30,999
Amortisation A 17 320 10,000 10,337
At 30 September 2017 and RZ-ZT—+ 4
1 October 2017 hA=+tHR
—E—tF+H—H 56 1,280 40,000 41,336
Amortisation 5 37 320 — 357
Exchange difference ERER @) — — ©)
At 30 September 2018 RZZE—N\F
hAA=+H 91 1,600 40,000 41,691
Carrying amount REE
At 30 September 2018 RZZE—N\F
hNA=+H 2,569 — — 2,569
At 30 September 2017 RZZE—+F
AA=+H 1,486 320 — 1,806
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

21.

Intangible assets represent (i) customer relationship acquired for an
estimated useful life of 5 years; (i) club memberships acquired with
both finite and indefinite useful lives; and (i) formula rights acquired
for an estimated useful life of 5 years. The carrying amount as at
30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017 represents the cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any.

The average remaining amortisation period of club memberships
with finite useful lives, formula rights and customer relationship are
40 to 43 years (2017: 41 years), Nil (2017: 1 year) and Nil (2017:
Nil) respectively.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly-owned by the Company, as at 30 September 2018 are as

20.

21.

mREE(E)

BEERICEDREPHARZ  BetAlfE
REHRSF () EBR & ERAERF
HAR P B & 48 - M (i) P& BREC 75 1 » TR
SR AFEASF c —T—\FNA=F
AR -ZE—tFNAA=THNEREETIR
R AR R AT E 3 MORE (B FHER/ S -

ASRAEATAOEN EFRRE
P RR ) FI T4 234 50 5 B A0 Z 407
(CF—LF  415) - WCF—LF 15)
RAE(CB—LF ) -

KRB ARINIKE
RZF—/\FAA=FH  KARRINEZH
BRA(ZHARAZERA)FERT:

follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/

Nominal value of issued and fully
paid share capital/registered
capital/charter capital/

Name of subsidiary operations quota capital
MRS, R ERTRAZKRAE EMREER
o NG R B HUEXREEFHEE

Principal activities

FEEH

Keen Castle Limited*

British Virgin Islands

(“BVI")
Keen Castle Limited* KBRS
((EEBRZ#ES]
PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia Indonesia
PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia EJJE JE 71 58
Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam) Vietnam
Co., Ltd.
R ER A PR (BiE) B IR AR i
KemEREMAaHRERAR PRC
(Zhuhai Centresin Chemical
Product Company Ltd)
KEMERMEHRARAF H Bl
EMNTHERE S AR AE PRC
(Guangzhou Shi Yawei Trading
Company Limited)
BMTHREESER AR H B

Shares — US$2,000

f&th — 2,000% 7T

Paid up capital — US$300,000
R A — 300,000% 7T
Chartered capital — US$9,200,000
FFAE 7R — 9,200,000% T

Registered capital — HK$31,000,000

& A — 31,000,000 7T

Registered capital — RMB1,500,000

HEftEAR — AR¥1,500,00070
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Investment holding

BEZER

Processing and packaging of
adhesive products
BRBERINT R R

Processing and packaging of
adhesive products

BRAERMIEEE

Manufacture of adhesive
products

SUERHEE M

Trading of electronic adhesive
products

EEETRBAAER
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/

Nominal value of issued and fully
paid share capital/registered
capital/charter capital/

21. RINBARAFIRIKE (B)

Name of subsidiary operations quota capital Principal activities
EM AR ERTROAZKRAE FZMREER
ol AN 2 B HUEAXREEFHE IEBEB
lao Son Hong Paint Company Macau Quota capital — MOP900,000  Provision of agency services
Limited for the Group’s raw material
procurement and distribution
of adhesive products
RIETTAERRAR P! PREEEZAR — 900,000t AAEBEHRMEFERBR
BlE @D HRERIERSE
Infinity Development Macao Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000  Provision of promotion,
Commercial Offshore Limited marketing, R&D,
technical assistance and
administrative support
services
EFRERBPIBEFREERS o REEEZAR — 100,0000RFIc  REHEE - &85 - 7% - &ilf
BRATA I RITB X R
Huu Tin Hang Company Limited  Vietnam Chartered capital — VND600,000,000 Processing and packing of
adhesive products
Huu Tin Hang Company Limited — #i7 TR &78 — 600,000,000 ME BIRBEESNMIEBE
Grace Power Polymer Commercial Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000  Trading of electronic adhesive
Development Co. Ltd. products
HEHEAXERBERAR P! REEEZAR — 100,000t BEETRBIAESR
Great Oasis International Limited BVI Shares — US$100  Trading of raw materials and
adhesive products
Great Oasis International Limited HEBER XS fR{p — 100E€ T BEMHEBHEERES
Zhong Bu (Centresin) Adhesive & Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000  Administrative support for the
Chemical Co., Ltd. operation in Cambodia and
Bangladesh
FEEIRE(E THER AR e REEXR — 100,000 ARBERHZMNUEHETR
HITBZE
Macson Company Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000 Investment holding
EHARAT] P! REEAR — 100,0008FFT KEZERK
Long Fortune Holding Company  Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000 Investment holding
Limited
BREZERB R AR P! REAEAR — 100,002t KEZER
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/
establishment/

Nominal value of issued and fully
paid share capital/registered
capital/charter capital/

21. RINBRARIRIKE (B)

Name of subsidiary operations quota capital Principal activities
EM AL BERTRAZRA GEMREXR

ol N 2 B HUEAXREEAHE FBEE

Rank Best Investments Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding
Rank Best Investments Limited EBREAES R —1%Ex HREER

Ally Link Investments Limited BVI Shares — US$100  Investment holding
Ally Link Investments Limited EERRES B — 100E7T KEZER

Rich Castle Holdings Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000  Investment holding
EWRER—-ABRAQF B P fREEEZR — 100,000t  KREZER

Starry Skyline Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding
Starry Skyline Limited EERRES B —1Ex KREER

Sonic Expand Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding
RRERARAQF EBREAES B — 1= KREER

Aerial Bright Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding
Aerial Bright Limited BREBEAES B — 1% BEER

Righton Company Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000  Investment holding
HEBERAA ! fREEEZR — 100,000t REZER

Big Capital Development Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each  Investment holding
EHMERARAF BB REREEETHEBR KREER

*

Directly held by the Company.

22. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

* BMARNRERFA -

22. REEZ NaHIKE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBx FET
Share of net assets/(liabilities) EREEFE (AEFHE) 2,011 (2,068)
Goodwill B 43,214 43,214
45,225 41,146
Accumulated impairment losses (Note) R RAEEE T (38,393) (38,399)
6,832 2,753
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22.

120

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s principal associates at 30 September 2018
are as follows:

Place of
Name incorporation
Z18 5F 0 BX 3L b B4

Particular of issued and
paid up capital
ERTREBERAFES

REEREINRE (B)
H’\: —N\FAA=1TH £&H
/D\mu |EQD—F'

rE?'é

Percentage of
ownership interest

SRRSO

Blue Sky Energy Efficiency BVI
Company Limited

Blue Sky Energy Efficiency
Company Limited

RERZHE

Warrant Parking Management Macau
Limited
ERFEREERGRAA R

Note:

The Group recognised impairment losses of HK$38,393,000 for the year ended
30 September 2017 on its investment in an associate, Blue Sky Energy Efficiency
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Blue Sky Group”). The Blue Sky
Group acquired an equity interest in a group which engages in bioenergy research
and ethanol production in the PRC (the “PRC operation”) during the year ended
30 September 2017. The PRC operation was unable to commence production as
planned following the acquisition due to certain technical difficulties and there was
no definite timetable to start operation. In addition, the Blue Sky Group was unable
to execute or dispose of its two potential energy efficiency projects during the year
ended 30 September 2017. There was no significant change in the status of operation
of the Blue Sky Group and the PRC operation in the current year.

In light of these events and circumstances, the directors of the Group considered
that indicators of impairment existed in respect of the investment in the Blue Sky
Group and engaged an independent professional valuer, LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors
Limited to determine its recoverable amount. Based on the valuation report dated
21 December 2018, the recoverable amount of the investment in the Blue Sky Group
as at 30 September 2018 was Nil (2017: Nil).

The recoverable amount of the investment in the Blue Sky Group was based on its
fair value less costs of disposal estimated using the cost approach. The fair value
measurement is categorized as level 3. The impairment loss reflects the condition
of certain obsolete and dismantled equipment of the PRC operation and the fact
that the Blue Sky Group had no energy saving projects or contracts on hand as
at 30 September 2017 and 2018. The key assumptions relate to the value of the
underlying assets and liabilities of the Blue Sky Group (including those of the PRC
operation) and include the expected resaleable values and disposal costs of those
assets.
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50,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each

Quota capital — MOP50,000

40% (2017: 40%)

50,0008 FREEIE LN ETER  40% (ZZF—+EF : 40%)

40% (2017: 40%)

[REEEAN — 50,0009  40% (ZZT—+4F :40%)

CEE

REBREZ-ZT—tFNA=ZTHIEFER AR
& A @) Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited
RHWE AR ((Blue Sky&HME]) 2 % & 1R MER
838,393,000/ JC © Blue Sky B REEZE-T—tF
NA=Z+EEFERE -—RARPELEEEYERT
RECELEENSE(PEKEEBDORE - P
B 4% & S M P M R R TR R B R AR IR AT IR
E - TERENIRERRER © b - Blue SkyEE
BHEZZ—tFNA=THIEFEREKRDIRITRE
EEMIEEERBIAR © Blue SkySR B RP KL
BRAFENEERRALMERES -

ERZEFHRER  AEEEERANBlue Sky
SEZBREGEREDRICEE 2B LRER
BEMFABTAEMARAREETETKEEEE - B
BERABMAZT-NF+_A-t+-—BNHERSE  »®
Blue Sky R iR EM A kBl £ BR=_E—\FNLA=
+RAE(ZZ—tF &)

M Blue Sky(E B2 R EZAIKEI G EREATE
BERRAE[AOHERNAE - RATFEFE
APBRRF=-QER -ZREBBRRRPBELEE
& TIRE R EHF A R #H 15 T % Blue Sky BN
E—tFR-E-N\FANA=TAFHELELEER
LENNEE - TERREBIlue SkyEE (BEHE
REEBMMEHREERBBEEERBILIRZEE
ENEHEEEERBEKK -
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22. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22. REtE RAIMIRE (8)

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of the
amounts of all individually immaterial associates under the equity
method.

TRIFEDETAREA KRN 2 EE
FFERHERTEHE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FH T
At 30 September BARA=+H

Carrying amounts of interests HmAREE 6,832 2,753

Year ended 30 September: HEAA=1HILEFE:
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(EE) 195 (53)
Other comprehensive income Hap 2w = - —
Total comprehensive income 2EEERE 195 (53)

The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting to
approximately HK$189,000 (2017: Nil) for the Blue Sky Group as
share of such losses would exceed the Group’s interest in the
Blue Sky Group. The accumulated losses not recognised for were
approximately HK$189,000 (2017: Nil).

As at 30 September 2018, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’s associates in the PRC denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”)
amounted to approximately HK$122,000 (2017: HK$1,783,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

AREBENFAL EFLBlue Sky L B iR
REAI189,0008 T (—F— L5 ) 2 &
B DERAKRESIERFEHERBHER
Blue Sky&REFTIERED - = KR
RETE B R4189,0008 T (ZF— L5
) o

RN_ZE—N\FALA=1+H AEBNFEH
ZHERTUARE(TAREDETEMR
1TRIB & 45 A 122,000 L (ZF—+t
F 11,783,000/ 7T) - ARBEHIRBINER
S B ANEE IR 5 & A BE - T R AT E
EIER TR
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23. INVENTORIES 23. 78
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FHETT
Raw materials R 38,213 36,032
Finished goods BIEK 38,261 27,306
76,474 63,338

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Eg%k R RIE LA

th FE UR 5K IR

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiE&xT FETT
Trade receivables =) TN 184,782 134,024
Bills receivables e = & 4,082 11,553
Allowances for doubtful debts R (2,500) —
186,364 145,577
Value-added tax recoverable A] Uy o] 32 {8 F¢ 6,332 4,364
Other receivables H b JiE U 3R B 5,062 8,850
Prepayments B 4,685 5,002
Land use rights (note 19) - #h {55 A #E (Fft 5E19) 399 410
202,842 164,203

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. AEBHEFHNESIRRETEREER

The credit terms generally range from 15 to 120 days.
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24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24, ZZEWER - EWEZiE K H

(Continued) it & W 508 (48 )
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on the LWTAEZERERMERERIRIZESR
invoice date, and net of allowances, is as follows: B Z BRER AT (FOBR B ) -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E— £
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 109,509 73,914
31 to 60 days 31260H 35,357 41,798
61 to 90 days 61290H 24,633 16,451
91 to 180 days 912180H 14,294 12,267
181 to 365 days 181£365H 2,571 880
Over 1 year 1F Ak - 267
186,364 145,577
As at 30 September 2018, allowances were made for estimated RZE-NFALA=TH  FHE T A kE
irrecoverable trade receivables of approximately HK$2,500,000 B 5 U B 7 492,500,000 T (— T —+
(2017: Nil). Fm)BIEEEE -
Reconciliation of allowances for trade receivables: BSBWER BB HERNOT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E -+
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR FET
At beginning of year R E ) - -
Allowances for the year FANEE 2,500 —
At end of year RER 2,500 —
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24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24.

(Continued)

As at 30 September 2018, the Group’s trade receivables net of
allowances of approximately HK$37,678,000 (2017: HK$25,012,000)
were past due but not impaired. These related to a number of
independent customers for whom there were no recent history of
default.

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of allowances,

BoRNER B EERKH
it FE W 3R 1B (4B )
RZZE—N\FAA=+TH AEEMKE
HE1EME ZEUER 437,678,000/ 7T (=
T —+4F : 25,012,000/ 7T) BB EIE i K
HE - ZEEFEREF IR ZZFHI
BHREHENBLEP -

ZEMRBEBERNE S EUBRERROREK

is as follows: DT
2018 2017
—E—N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiExT FETT
0 to 30 days 0230H 27,854 18,687
31 to 60 days 312 60H 2,873 1,902
61 to 90 days 612 90H 2,848 3,123
91 to 180 days 91£180H 3,090 882
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 1,013 151
Over 1 year I - 267
37,678 25,012

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills receivables,
before allowances of doubtful debts, are denominated in the

following currencies:

AEBINBREBRBINE S BURER R
EREENREE AT ERE:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiE&x FHET

UsD ETT 98,265 81,973
RMB AR 79,072 52,541
TWD et 990 1,087
IDR NEE 2,304 2,190
VND WEE - 61
HK$ BT 8,233 7,725
Total 5t 188,864 145,577
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25. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND 25, Z[E&ISRIT1E A KRR 1TRIR

CASH BALANCES T AE ER
The Group's restricted bank deposits represented deposits pledged REE R ZRERITFRIEEIR TIRITIE
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as set ARTASERITEEZERGIBER
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 4R A B TS R MY 5E28) ©
The carrying amounts of the Group’s restricted bank deposits REBMZREBITERALRITRIRE
and bank and cash balances are denominated in the following EANBEEBEDAUTEEE:
currencies:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
HK$ BT 40,553 66,062
UsD eSS 35,615 31,149
RMB AR 5,635 7,736
VND HMEE 2,001 1,307
Macau Palaca SEPIIT 217 1,625
IDR EERE 562 748
Bangladeshi Taka FRIIETE S 420 437
TWD ek 51 52
85,054 109,116
As at 30 September 2018, the bank and cash balances of RZZE—NFALA=Z+H AEEUAR
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately MEHERIRTT IR S 482 475,635,0007% 7T
HK$5,635,000 (2017: HK$7,736,000). Conversion of RMB into —E—+4F:7736,00087T) c A REH,
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control RSN 7B S Hh BN B I R ) I A BE -
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment EENMMIEETIER TR -

of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. BZEMNENR - BNREREM
FETFRIR

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Trade payables B 5 TR 65,411 41,179
Bills payables — secured EREE — 57 3,170 4,718
68,581 45,897
Customers’ deposits received BEFZE 3,213 1,324
Accruals EFtER 40,204 33,459
Others Em 146 519
112,144 81,199

The Group normally receives credit terms of 30 to 90 days from its
suppliers. The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based

on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

AEBRE R —REUG0E0RMEE
Hl - UTREZERNERLENERERK

REmB M2 Rk DT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FAT
0 to 30 days 0£30H 60,039 42,683
31 to 60 days 31260H 8,193 2,931
61 to 90 days 61290H 188 248
91 to 180 days 912180H 97 35
181 to 365 days 181£365H 1 —
Over 1 year 1F Ak 63 —
68,581 45,897
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26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills payables are

denominated in the following currencies:

BRI
FE N R IR ()

TIA TSI B’ 5T {E

- ERNRE R EAM

AEBMEZERMNERMENZRENKREE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Euro BT 365 47
RMB AR 45,173 23,871
UsD eSS 19,613 18,195
IDR EEE 407 1,610
VND WEE 2,156 1,390
Japanese Yen H &l - 71
HK$ BT 744 343
TWD e 123 —
68,581 45,897
27. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY 27. JEfN—ERBERTIFIA
The amount due to Easy Ray Holdings Limited, a company F&{TEasy Ray Holdlngs Limited (FBAA
controlled by Mr. leong Un, a director of the Company, is EEHMEEEHNAT)E Iﬁ/*ffrﬂ?fﬁﬁ
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. RERREREEE -
28. BANK LOANS 28. HRITEK
The bank loans are repayable as follows: IRITTERERNUTHEEER
2018 2017
—E—N\E =t
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Within one year —FR 36,432 16,828
Portion of bank loans that are due for —F1&EHE %1 BEREXRE
repayment after one year but contain a FIEREIRITERE 5 (P AT
repayment on demand clause (shown under  E&1&)
current liabilities) 222 10,336
36,654 27164
Less: Amounts due for settlement within BT ZEARNEEBEREE
12 months (shown under current FEGIARBBEE)
liabilities) (36,654) (27,164)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months +Z{ER%EIEAEEE 2 KA - —
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28. BANK LOANS (Continued) 28. IR1TEH(E)
All bank loans are denominated in HKS$. FIBIRITE R AE TEHE o
The bank loans are arranged at floating rates and expose the RITERRFHANEFTE  NEBHEER
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. As at 30 September 2018, the RensEfExEE RZZE-—NFLA=
average interest rate of the bank loans was approximately 4.38% +8 - RITEHIZL438% (ZF—tF:
(2017: 2.91%) per annum. 2.91%) B FHF L5 8. »
As at 30 September 2018, the Group’s banking facilities are RZZE—NFHLA=+H AEEMIET
secured by (i) the Group’s investment properties (note 17); (ii) EETARO)AEEREDEFF7) (i)
certain land and buildings (note 18); (i) restricted bank deposits AT REF (FIFE18) : (i) R HIRTT
(note 25); and (iv) corporate guarantee executed by the Company. TR (KT EE25) B/ A R (v) AR A ER

B A FIEREEAR -

29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IRAEFIA

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group: AEECERNEEHBEEERNT:

Revaluation

Undistributed surplus of
profits of investment
subsidiaries properties Total
b 1 2 |) REWME
R 5k & F EMER ELR]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T THET FH& T
At 1 October 2017 RZZE—+F+A—H 3,791 9,362 13,153
Exchange difference fEHER (173) - (173)
Charge/(credit) for the year REANINKR,(GEA)
(note 11) (M 5E11) 238 (204) 34
At 30 September 2018 RZZE—N\F
NA=+H 3,856 9,158 13,014
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29. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 29. R IE (&)
Revaluation
Undistributed surplus of
profits of investment
subsidiaries properties Total
ff B A =) REME
R 9K i F BEAR FOEC]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
At 1 October 2016 RZZE—-RFE+HA—H 3,562 9,194 12,756
Exchange difference EHER 78 - 78
Charge for the year (note 11)  FAER K (B 5E11) 151 168 319
At 30 September 2017 RZE—tFNLA=TH 3,791 9,362 13,153
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax RMER  NEBRSAHIEBEEN A
losses of approximately HK$15,330,000 (2017: HK$7,236,000) 15,330,000/ JT (= & — + 4 : 7,236,000
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has BT AT AR R R T - AR R E
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the FIRIRARAIEET - M EBL RS BRIAS
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised BRRELERIBEE - sTARERBIAS
tax losses are losses of approximately HK$282,000 (2017: B E 184 /5282,0008 T (Z T —+ 4
HK$1,803,000) that will expire in 2022. Other tax losses may be 1,803,000/ 7C) * R T _F @M °
carried forward indefinitely. Hh B IBE BRI K AL o
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B
Number of
shares Amount
K& E Cof .|
Note HK$’000
B 5E TH&T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R E{EO0.018 T /Y I i %
Authorised: VETE
At 1 October 2016, 30 September RZZE—XRF+A—H"
2017, 1 October 2017 and —E—tFNA=1+H"
30 September 2018 —E—tF+A—HEK
—E-N\FHhLA="TH 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE:
At 1 October 2016 RZE—RE+H—H 631,719,076 6,317
Issue of shares upon exercise of share 77T {F & I 4 B 2 1T A% 19
options 33 872,000 9
At 30 September 2017 and 1 October W-_Z—tFHA=+H
2017 r—_ZE—+H+H—H 632,591,076 6,326
Repurchase and cancellation of shares 8 [@ i% {7 I 7t £ (@) (17,276,000) (173)
At 30 September 2018 R=F—-N\EhA=+H 615,315,076 6,153
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Company repurchased a total
of 17,276,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange and
cancelled 17,276,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

30. A%
B

(@)

(#&)

HE-Z-\ENLA=+HILFE Kx2TAR
Bgt 22 Fir [B] B8 AR B A ££17,276,000 0% & 38 A% I
= $H AN A F]17,276,000 % 3% i B o

Particulars of the shares repurchased during the year are as follows: (b) RERBRRMDHOFBEROT:
Price per share Aggregate
Number of BRER considerations
ordinary shares and other
of the Company Highest Lowest costs paid
BRER
AR EREREAR BE =312 Hitew&ER
(thousand shares) HK$ HK$ HK$’000
(F %) BT BT FET
Year ended BE-ZE-—N\HF
30 September 2018 AA=+HILEFEE
November 2017 —2—t+t&%+—A8 10,364 1.14 1.12 11,778
August 2018 —ZE-N\ENA 6,912 0.73 0.61 4,913
Year ended HE-ZT—+tF
30 September 2017 NA=+HLFE Nil 4 Nil 4= Nil 4 Nil 4

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise
new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total
debt comprises borrowings (except for bank overdrafts). Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, retained profits and
other reserves).
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

30. IRA(4E)

s ()

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
During 2018, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2017, was REZE-N\E AEENFRE-_T—+F
to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low as feasible in order to RE-—H RAEEEYKABREARALEXERSD
secure access to finance at a reasonable cost. The debt-to-adjusted capital HRNEEKE  UERINGEKNAERSE
ratios as at 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017 were as follows: & o RZZT—)\FALA=Z+THE=ZZ—+tFAh
A=+H BEYHLABEERLERNT:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FH&IT

Total debt BERAE 36,654 27,164

Less: cash and cash equivalents BoRERREEED (85,054) (109,116)

Net debt BEFHE (48,400) (81,952)

Total equity s 391,101 395,197

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEHEABRERL X -12% -21%

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: (i) in order to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of at
least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet financial covenants attached to the

interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars monthly on substantial
share interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing

compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank
to immediately call borrowings. There have been no breaches in the
financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowing for the years ended

30 September 2018 and 2017.
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31.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

(a)

31.

2R A R ¢ I B 2
(@) ZA2T]HYE AR R *

As at 30 September

MPABA=4+H
2018 2017
—E-N\E T+
Note HK$’00_0 HK$’000
B 5T FExT FABTT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHEBARMNIRE 119,019 119,019
Current assets MENEE
Due from subsidiaries & U B B R /) 5B 66,180 113,154
Other receivables H th JiE W 508 - 4
Bank and cash balances RITNIB e &5 1,437 614
Total current assets MEEEHTE 67,617 113,772
Current liabilities nEAE
Other payables H b 50 E 1,719 77
Bank loans RITE R 3,457 13,608
Total current liabilities nEBAELAE 5,176 14,385
Net current assets mEBEEFE 62,441 99,387
Net assets BERHE 181,460 218,406
Capital and reserves BEARARMEE
Share capital [N 30 6,153 6,326
Reserves {15 31(b) 175,307 212,080
Total equity EREE 181,460 218,406

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 December 2018

and are signed on its behalf by:

Ip Chin Wing
ER&®

Executive Director

HITEE

ER-E-N\FE+-_A=-+—RHE=E

FEHETHNINEFHRES:

Ip Ka Lun
EEMWm
Executive Director

HITEE
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31, %

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

N BB 15 AR 0 R K fe e

==
=]
(/\E)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AABEEELH
Capital Share-based
Share Share  Treasury redemption Contributed payments  Retained
capital  premium shares reserve surplus reserve profits Total
EXER DR B =2
BEx RHEE EERG fitE EHEH% HERE  REER A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET TET TET FTERT FTERT T FTET
(Note 33(b)ii)
(B 533 (0) i)
At 1 October 2016 RZT—RF+A—H 6,317 180,375 - 165 45,082 3,368 942 236,249
Total comprehensive income FR2ENELE
for the year - - - - - - (6,869) (6,869)
Transfers - E - - - - (20,000) - 20,000 -
Dividends paid (Note 15) B B (I FE15) - - - - - - (13,266) (13,266)
Issue of shares upon exercise  FA{T 1 BB AR AE 65 35 17 Rk 1
of share options 9 925 - - - (149) - 785
Share-based payments PARR D 15 3% 2 5B - - - - - 1,507 - 1,507
Changes in equity for the year ~EREZEH 9 925 - - (20,000) 1,358 (135) (17,843)
At 30 September 2017 RZE—+FNLA=+H 6,326 181,300 - 165 25,082 4,726 807 218,406
At 1 October 2017 RZT—tF+A—H 6,326 181,300 - 165 25,082 4,726 807 218,406
Total comprehensive income FREERGZEE
for the year - - - - - - (7,459) (7,459)
Transfers B - - - - (25,082) - 25,082 -
Repurchases of shares s B R 7 - - (16,691) - - - - (16,691)
Cancellation of shares HHR R (179) (16,691) 16,691 173 - - - -
Dividends paid (Note 15) Bk 8 (F5E15) - - - - - - (13,067) (13,067)
Share-based payments PARR 3R 2 OB - - - - - 271 - 271
Changes in equity for the year FREZEE (173) (16,691) - 173 (25,082 271 4,556 (36,946)
At 30 September 2018 RZZ-N\ENA=1H 6,153 164,609 - 338 - 4,997 5,363 181,460
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32. RESERVES

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Special reserve
The special reserve represents the aggregate of:

— the differences between the nominal amount
of the shares issued by the Company and
the Group’s former holding company and the
aggregate amount of paid-in capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in June 2009 and March 2010
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares in 2010; and

—  the difference between the consideration paid by
Keen Castle Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, for the acquisition of the entire
equity interest in Rank Best Investment Limited
and its subsidiaries (“the Rank Best Group”)
under common control and the aggregate
carrying amount of assets and liabilities acquired
in the Rank Best Group in March 2013.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 4(t) to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

32.

e 18
r5E
AEENEELEREDREAR
R EMEER SRR G A S
BERANZH -

(a)

(b)

RENHEEREN

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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32.

33.

136

RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv) Legal reserve

In accordance with the provisions of the Macau
Commercial Code issued by the government of Macau,
the Macau subsidiaries of the Company are required to
transfer from their annual net profit at a minimum rate
of 25% to a legal reserve before the appropriation of
profits to dividend until the legal reserve reaches 50%
of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. The
legal reserve is not distributable to shareholders.

(v) Statutory surplus reserve fund

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations
for foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation
to such reserve is made out of net profit after taxation
as reflected in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations applicable to PRC enterprises. The statutory
surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior
year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion
into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 22 July 2010, the Company
adopted a share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”), which will
expire on 21 July 2020, for the purpose of providing incentives or
reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest. Under the
Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options
to any employees (including any executive directors), non-executive
directors, suppliers of goods or services and customers of the
Group; and consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to
the Group.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 33. AR Hm R 2 FIA(EE)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Options granted must be accepted by an eligible person within 21
business days from the date of grant, provided that such date shall
not be more than 10 years after the date of adoption of the Option
Scheme. A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance. An
option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee (or his
legal personal representatives) at any time before the expiry of the
period to be determined and notified by the Board of Directors to
the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than 10 years
commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring on the
last day of such ten-year period subject to the provisions for early
termination as contained in the Option Scheme. The exercise price
is determined by the directors of the Company, and will be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of grant.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Option Scheme may not exceed in nominal
amount of 10% of issued share capital of the Company at any point
of time without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Besides, the total maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options must not exceed
30% of the issued share capital from time to time. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point of time.

B A4 E Y B8 B R 5 8 (4])

BERATARKELAHEN2IEEXA
AEAFELNBRE  HEZETGEER
BAERT IR B B EH0F - MRS A
S VETTHERRE o AR A GEIEE (@
ARR)AIREFEEERANENHRHEE
i ATBERS 1T = BPak Bf 0 B Ak - X
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P05 - WHRZI0OF M &L —KER -
A 52 FE RCAE 5T 81 BT 8 #0 B2 A AR LE 16 SUAR
ReTHEEBHARREREE  XRAT
RERE()ARBBRONE L BN KT
B (BRORERRLARAEARISH
BT TE  R(i)RNAF RO KB
HIWEE - RERRRBRFLRILME - R
ERE B SR L B A TR
NEERZ T HEBAAREAKEEAE
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33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

33. DARR AR 1 3K

NIE ()

BRAGEDN Eﬁﬂﬂgi‘i‘gﬂ(
FEBMNNBRESBOT

®)

Date of Vesting Exercise
grant period period Exercise price
BEHAH FRH TES THEE
HKS
BT
Year ended
30 September 2014
HE2-Z2-m4F
NA=Z+THLEEE
— Tranche 1 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2014 1 January 2015 to 31 December 0.900
2018
- E-# “T-NFRA=TA —NFERA=TAHZE —h¥—-A—HZ 0.900
—mF+ZA=+—H ZE-\f+ZA=1+—H
— Tranche 2 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2015 1 January 2016 to 31 December 0.900
2018
- “T-NFRA=TA —NFERA=TAHZE s el = 0.900
—h¥+ZA=1+—H -\ +ZA=1+—H
— Tranche 3 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2016 1 January 2017 to 31 December 0.900
2018
=1 “T-NFRA=TA EE£H*+EI —E—t+F-A-HZ 0.900
—F-RF+=-A=+-H —Z-\F+-A=+—H
— Tranche 4 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2017 1 January 2018 to 31 December 0.900
2018
— EnmHt “T-NFRA=TA —NERA=THE e e = ) 0.900
—t&§+ZA=1+—H ZE-\f+ZA=1+—H
Year ended 16 June 2015 Nil 16 June 2015 to 1.788
30 September 2015 15 June 2017
HE-_ZT—1F “E-RFAATRH E —RAFXNATAEZE 1.788
NA=ZTHLEEE —tFXATHA
Year ended 7 June 2016 Nil 7 June 2016 to 1.300
30 September 2016 6 December 2017
BE_T—RF “E-XEXAtHE E —Z— /\i/\ﬂ‘tﬁi 1.300
NA=ZTHLEEE —tF+=ARH
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 33. AR Hm R 2 FIA(EE)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) BRAZENBREFS(E)
Details of the movement of share options during the year are as FRN - BREZHFBFOT:
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share options exercise price share options exercise price
T hn#E g
BIRESE TEE B EE TE(E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the REERITEE
beginning of the year 7,024,000 1.24 13,468,000 1.41
Lapsed during the year FNE KRB (6,108,000) 1.29 (5,572,000) 1.70
Exercised during the year ~F R 1TE - - (872,000) 0.90
Outstanding at the end of R K& &RIT{E
the year 916,000 0.90 7,024,000 1.24
Exercisable at the end of the R ERA] F176
year 916,000 0.90 6,720,000 1.26
The options outstanding at the end of the year had a weighted PG AR 18 AR 1T 58 9 B AR B0 00 4 39 R #4
average remaining contractual life of 0.25 year (2017: 0.3 year) AHFERE0BF (ZE—+F:03F)
and the exercise price was HK$0.9 (2017: range from HK$0.9 to MmiTEEA0IB T (ZZE—+F: NF0.9
HK$1.3). BILE13BIT)
Share options granted to consultants were incentives for helping MERREEREDER AR EERE
the Group expand its business network, acquire and explore new XA WERBEENEGBEERKS
business projects and opportunities. The fair value of such benefit BIHEE) o ZA MR FETE A EMEE -
could not be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is it - A FEDLEMELBREN AT

measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. BFFE °
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34. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34. &8 REXRM T
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEFHMELEEZHIER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TREINAEEREFHFEENBEE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash FFE ERESLIIFRcFEH  -@E
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EYMELANBEABRARBRRER S
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in MEXP>ERAREFHReRENE
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows EMEBIARAKRRERAE °
from financing activities.
As at As at
1 October Interest 30 September
2017 Cash flows expenses 2018
RZE—+F R=-F—N\E
+HA—H RenE MERX hWA=+H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FAT T T FAT TET
Bank loans RITER 27,164 8,805 685 36,654
Amount due to a related EN—EEERF
company HIR 4,582 3,303 — 7,885
31,746 12,108 685 44,539

35.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 September 2018, the Group and the Company did not

have any significant contingent liabilities (2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2018
HE-_ZT—)/\FALA=THILFE

36. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee
At 30 September 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

36.

HERE

AEBEELHERBAA
R-ZZE—NFNLA=+H8  RBETAIFHE
CETHERNMARFERSABUNT

2018 2017

—E—NEF —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FH& T

Within one year —F RN 1,808 3,037
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERTF(REEEWMT) 576 1,697
2,384 4,734

Commitment for operating lease rentals for rented premises in the
above included commitment with Mr. leong Un, a director of the
Company as follows:

A EENKE2HERSARERRE
AT BARBEEGNNE LR AE:

2018 2017

—2-\F -z-t%

HK$’00_0 HK$’000

T FHET

Within one year —F R 622 1,508
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFRAFT(BEEEMT) - 641
622 2,149

Operating lease payments mainly represent rental payable by the
Group for certain of its offices and factories. Leases are negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 to 4 years (2017: 1 to 6 years) and rentals
are fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent
rentals.

The Group as lessor
At 30 September 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

REMENREIBERARERES THA
ERBEERMNNES - BHORNF1E45F
(CZE—tF1E6eF)NEHEHE He
NHEETF BTt ASAER -

AEBERZEHBEA
RZE-N\FHA=1+H RETATH
REMEREMRRFERSEENT

2018 2017

—E—N\E =t

HK$’00_0 HK$'000

FEx FET

Within one year —F RN 1,200 1,193
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFHF(PEEEMF) 649 280
1,849 1,473

All of the Group’s investment properties are held for rental purposes
and have committed tenants for the next 1 to 3 years.
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HE-_T—)/\FNLA=THLLFE

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. BAREYE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting RBEHREFNERMAEERBENE
period but not yet incurred and provided for are as follow: RAEPENT
2018 2017
—E-NEF —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 6,842 9,014
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BEARS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances BRIREBHREREME Y FTIEENEE
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the FRGREBRIN  REBRFARELREE
Group had the following material transaction with its related parties FEUNTERRS:
during the year:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Property rental expenses paid to a director EN—2FENMERSRX 1,480 1,422
A director of the Company, Mr. leong Un, has significant influence KRB EEBRHIEEHBEARBMAERX
over the related company. TR
The details of remuneration of key management personnel of the FA-AEEFTEEEABFTN(BREE
Group include the directors whose emoluments during the year are EME)F BN T 14(0) °

set out in note 14(a).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
YR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group AEBBAERFEMBREEZ2EREENREGE

for the last five financial years is set out below: BEHTMT
Results for the year ended 30 September BENA=1+HLEFEZXEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

—ENF —T—+F —ZE—RFE —T—FHEFE —T—MF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FBx FAT FETT FETT FAETT
Revenue i 663,036 539,557 496,219 543,632 499,148
Profit from operations 48 T 15 5 A 44,971 42,071 36,597 55,471 54,471
Interest on bank borrowings R 17 & 7 F & (685) (1,211) (1,036) (1,590) (1,665)
Share of profit/(loss) of NSl A i
associates (E518) 195 (17,075) 5,183 3,843 64)
Impairment loss of B & N RIIEERE
investment in an associate & 18 - (38,393) — — —
Profit/(loss) before tax B B A& A
(E#8) 44,481 (14,608) 40,744 57,724 52,742
Income tax expense FT 1S i 7 2 (4,170) (5,671) (3,585) (8,541) (13,209)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREH S (EE) 40,311 (20,279) 37,159 49,183 39,633
Assets and liabilities as at 30 September RAB=+HZzEEREE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
BN\ —T—+tF —T-—XF —T-FHFE —TMOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FAT FAET FAET FAET
Total assets %‘ E R 572,537 529,833 552,958 536,699 446,994
Total liabilities BE®E (181,436) (134,636) (124,514) (108,509) (123,724)
Net assets BEFE 391,101 395,197 428,444 428,190 323,270
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEEF

Investment Properties as at 30 September 2018

REZB-NFAA=Z+HNREYE

Attributable
interest of the

Location Use Group
NE EH SEELES
Units E, F, H, |, J, K and portion of L Commercial 100%
on 16th Floor, Macau Finance Centre EES
Rua De Pequim N°S 230-246
Macau
B PIIE 72302465 RFI S R OB ZE CF - H |~ J» KEZA
L&Az &7
Portion of Unit 801 Commercial 100%
on Level 8 of Huaye Building EES

No. 2158 Mingzhu South Road
Qianshan District, Zhuhai City
Guangdong Province

The People’s of Republic of China

h B /& FR A BR 8 T A LU [ B9 TR R B8 2158 5% I X K B 81280158 2 B 7
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